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The members of the Board of Directors, who are elected at the Annual General Meeting,
provide their experience and expertise to establish the management
framework and oversee the operations of the Company.
(From left to right)
MR. YUSUF AHMED AL HAMMADI Director, MR. HESHAM JAFFAR AL RAYYES Director, MR. HAMED YOUSEF MASHAL Director
DR. MUSTAFA ALI AL SAYED Vice-Chairman, MRS. EMAN MUSTAFA AL MURBATI Director, MR. ESSA MOHAMED NAJIBI Chairman
MR. ABDULJALIL MOHAMED JANAHI Director, MR. FUAD ALI TAQI Director, MR. MOHAMED EBRAHIM AL BASTAKI Director
MR. SATTAM SULAIMAN AL GOSAIBI Director
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Chairman’s
Statement

We are currently on the precipice of a new era
for the Company with the expected launch
of Al liwan Project, through which we seek to
create a modern lifestyle in the Kingdom of
Bahrain, as well as introduce new experiences
in the entertainment sector.

Essa Mohamed Najibi
Chairman
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For the financial year
ended 31 December
2019, the Company
reported a net profit
of BD 11.19 million,
achieving an increase
of 0.67% compared
to 2018.

Esteemed Shareholders,
On behalf of the Board of
Directors of Seef Properties
B.S.C. (“Company”), it is with great
pleasure that I present to you the
Company’s Annual Report and
audited Financial Statements for
the year ended 31 December
2019, which includes the
Company’s performance during
the previous year and our vision
for the future.
The continued profitability of the
Company, despite the challenges
of a highly competitive market, is
a testament to the soundness of
the strategies and plans we have
implemented towards achieving
new horizons and cementing
our leading position in the real
estate, retail, hospitality and
entertainment sectors.
Key Indicators
The Company maintained its
profitability in 2019, and this is
an indication of the Company’s
resilience and ability to adapt
its operations swiftly to the
fluctuations of the market
despite the challenges and
changing dynamics of consumer

Net
Profit

behaviours. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2019, the
Company reported a net profit
of BD 11.19 million, in comparison
to BD 11.12 million for 2018,
achieving an increase of 0.67%.
Revenue decreased by 2.07% to
BD 17.03 million compared with
BD 17.39 in 2018. Accordingly,
the Board of Directors is
recommending to the General
Assembly cash dividends of 15%,
an equivalent of BD 6.9 million.
Our focus in 2019 has been
centered around providing
exceptional experiences to our
customers. Our efforts to provide
high quality lifestyle choices have
reflected and transpired positively
by strengthening our financial
performance and achieving profit
for the Company. We will continue
to take steady strides towards
achieving more growth in the
upcoming years in accordance
with well-defined priorities and
objectives stemming from our
strong belief in the importance
of planning and careful research
of realisable gains, to ensure that
the Company achieves further
success.

11.19
Million
Bahraini Dinars
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Chairman’s Statement
Continued

Key Financial Results
)In million Bahraini Dinars(

2018

2019

Revenue

17.39

17.03

Operating Profit

14.85

15.13

11.12

11.19

Net Profit
Total Assets

168.37

174.32

Total equity attributable to the shareholders

150.83

154.54

Creating a New Lifestyle

with the Government to promote
the Kingdom’s leading position
In 2020, the features of our
strategy will become clearer, which as a tourism hub in the region.
While we continue developing high
will be based on diversifying our
investment portfolio and expanding quality projects, we will focus our
efforts towards building for the
our operations in new sectors,
future and maintaining our leading
namely the entertainment and
position.
real estate development sectors.
Simultaneously, we are fortifying
Seef Properties believes that the
our efforts to provide exceptional
entertainment sector is critical
shopping experiences to our
and will accordingly continue to
customers in all of our commercial
invest in the same through its
malls, as we aim to provide
subsidiary, Seef Entertainment.
additional value to our partners in
We aim to launch exceptional
return of their investments and to
projects that meet the aspirations
secure their success as a priority.
of the citizens, residents and
visitors of the Kingdom of Bahrain.
We are currently on the precipice
of a new era for the Company with
the expected launch of Al liwan
Integrating Innovation in the
Project, through which we seek
Retail Sector
to create a modern lifestyle in the
In the midst of the high
Kingdom of Bahrain, as well as
competition in the retail sector,
introduce new experiences in the
we are keen on reinforcing our
entertainment sector. This comes
leadership position by relying
as part of our efforts to enhance
on unique foundations we have
our investment revenues and to
established over the years,
increase the profit of the Company,
which have helped us earn the
in addition to working collectively
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trust of our valued customers
and partners. Consequently,
this integration of innovation in
the retail sector has reflected
positively on our occupancy
rates in all of our commercial
malls, where we have ensured
that every client’s shopping
experience is exceptional.
Furthermore, modern trends in
e-commerce have necessitated
our reconsideration of the retail
industry and the need not only to
construct new commercial outlets,
but to ensure sustainability of
their management in light of the
changing market conditions.
Unlimited Ambition
Our Company is prepared for
the future due to the measures
and strategies put in motion
to enhance its profitability by
focusing on investing in vital
sectors and transitioning into
modern avenues of business.
We are proactive in our initiatives
and we rely on our ambitions to
achieve a better tomorrow. Our
team of professionals places us
in a position that enables us to
create a brighter future for retail,
entertainment, hospitality and
real estate development in the
Kingdom.

As demonstrated by its consistent
profitability, Seef Properties has
succeeded in turning its plans
to enhance its positive financial
performance into reality. We have
solid foundations to progress
and increase our growth rates,
and with your support, we are
confident that we will achieve all
of our goals.
In conclusion, and on behalf of my
esteemed fellow Directors, all of
the employees and shareholders
of the Company, I would like to
extend my sincere appreciation to
His Majesty King Hamad bin Isa Al
Khalifa, His Royal Highness Prince
Khalifa bin Salman Al Khalifa, the
Prime Minister, His Royal Highness
Prince Salman bin Hamad Al
Khalifa, the Crown Prince, Deputy
Supreme Commander and First
Deputy Prime Minister, the
respected Government of the

Kingdom of Bahrain and all of its
ministries, institutions and officials
who continue to provide support
to Seef Properties throughout
the years. Their support has
placed us in a prominent position
to support the aspirations of our
wise leadership and enabled us
to strengthen the Kingdom’s
status as a regional and global
destination for tourism, retail,
entertainment, hospitality and real
estate development.
I would also like to extend my
sincere gratitude to all of the
shareholders, partners and
employees for the success we
have achieved. Our aim will remain
to retain your confidence and to
achieve success and prosperity in
the year 2020.
Essa Mohamed Najibi
Chairman
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Chief Executive Officer’s
Report

Our objective is to ensure that the aspirations
of the Company and those of our clients move
hand in hand. In pursuit of this goal, we have
designed our work model to take advantage of
new opportunities created in the market and to
expand into new sectors with rewarding returns.

Ahmed Yusuf
Chief Executive Officer
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Al liwan has been of
interest to different
stakeholders in the
retail sector, as it
comes with unique
features, which we
believe will have a
positive impact on our
financial performance.

Esteemed Shareholders,
It is with great pleasure that
I present to you the Annual
Report for Seef Properties B.S.C.
for the year 2019. Throughout
the past year, the Company
has successfully reinforced its
position as a key player in the
fields of retail, entertainment,
hospitality and real estate
development in the Kingdom of
Bahrain. This sustainability in our
performance has been achieved
through the Company’s approach,
which prioritizes meeting clients’
requirements and will continue to
do so in the future.
Our objective is to ensure that
the aspirations of the Company
and those of our clients move
hand in hand. In pursuit of this
goal, we have designed our work
model to take advantage of new
opportunities created in the
market and to expand into new
sectors with rewarding returns.
This prompts us to strive to
attain the maximum gains for all
stakeholders in the Company.
Strengthening Our Leadership
Commercial malls will continue to
be at the core of our operations,
while we will be simultaneously
working on diversifying our
investment portfolio. We have
actively pursued our vision to
operate our malls in accordance
with the best practices and
highest international standards in
the retail sector.

This vision is retained through
focusing on improving shoppers’
experiences and providing them
with exceptional benefits through
launching exclusive campaigns all
year-round, with the aim to make
our malls the preferred destination
for shoppers from the Kingdom
of Bahrain and neighboring
countries. This has reflected
positively on our financial
performance and we are keen on
continuing to support our tenants
by highlighting the most attractive
features of our malls and making
them the most desired choice for
families.
Foreseeing A Brighter Future
The year 2020 is going to be a
significant one for us, as we look
forward to launching our new
mixed used development project,
Al liwan during the fourth quarter
of this year. This project is a
direct result of our new strategies
to diversify the Company’s
investment portfolio and add new
projects to our work models.
Al liwan has been of interest
to different stakeholders in the
retail sector, as it comes with
unique features, which we believe
will have a positive impact on
our financial performance. We
consider this to be an added
value to our work model, and to
the entertainment and tourism
sectors in the Kingdom for years
to come.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report
Continued

Conversely, the entertainment
sector will remain a key focus in
our long-term expansion strategy
through Seef Entertainment, as
we believe in the importance of
playing a leading role in this vital
sector. Our long-term vision for
the Company is to be one of the
leading entertainment service
providers in the Kingdom of
Bahrain through the development
and introduction of unique
experiences that fulfill the
aspirations of our clients for a
modern lifestyle. We are currently
working on launching the largest
family entertainment center,
which will be established on a
5,600-meter block within Al liwan
Project.
Additionally, the Company has
strengthened its performance
in other sectors, including the
hospitality sector, where Fraser
Suites-Seef continues to offer
the finest hospitality services, and
retains, as well as attracts more
guests on a regular basis.
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We are constantly and proactively
setting new standards in the
Kingdom’s retail, entertainment,
hospitality and real estate
development sectors. Thus, we
are utilizing a strategic approach
in managing the Company’s
operations in our new projects,
as part of our commitment to
maintaining our leading position in
the market.
We look forward to reinforcing our
vision and commercial values in
the near future through the new
opportunities emerging in the
market, with the aim of expanding
our assets portfolio to the ultimate
benefit of the national economy.
Finally, I would like to express
my sincere appreciation to the
esteemed members of the Board
of Directors and our valued
shareholders for their support.
I would also like to thank the
Company’s employees for their
continued hard work, dedication
and devotion, which continues

to greatly contribute to the
Company’s growth and pushes
it forward towards greater
prosperity. I would also like to
thank all of our partners, who are a
substantial factor in our success.
We look forward to more success
in our work and future endeavors.
Ahmed Yusuf
Chief Executive Officer

Commercial malls
will continue to be
at the core of our
operations, while
simultaneously
working on
diversifying our
investment portfolio.
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Corporate
Governance
1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
APPROACH
Seef Properties B.S.C. (“Company”)
continuously strives to be a
leading, innovative and diversified
real estate company driven
by the highest standards and
values in its quest for excellence.
The Company’s commitment
to fairness, transparency,
accountability and responsibility
remains at the forefront of
its operations to the ultimate
benefit of its shareholders,
customers, employees and other
stakeholders.
The Company’s corporate
governance framework is based
on the guidelines of the Corporate
Governance Code as introduced
by the Ministry of Industry,
Commerce and Tourism, the
Commercial Companies Law and
its Implementation Regulations
(“CCL”) and the regulations of the
Central Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”)
as specified in Volume 6 of its
Rulebook - High Level Controls
(Module HC).
The Company has implemented
an effective and transparent
management framework
developed in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations
in the Kingdom of Bahrain and
operates under the Company’s
Corporate Governance Guidelines.
The Board of Directors (“Board”)
is responsible for strategic plans,
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policies and supervision of
business performance/operations,
overseeing the functions of the
Executive Management and
ensuring effective discharge of
its duties. The Board delegates
the day to day running of the
Company to the Chief Executive
Officer and the Executive
Management in accordance
with approved discretionary
authority limits, policies and
procedures, plans and regulatory
requirements. The Company’s
External Auditor, Ernst & Young,
conducts audit and other
statutory reviews quarterly and
annually to ensure compliance
with regulatory requirements.

Accordingly, the Board, through
the Nomination, Remuneration
and Governance Committee,
has reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code in its last
meeting of 2019 and implemented
steps to ensure compliance with
any outstanding provisions, where
applicable.

2. ONGOING INITIATIVES IN 2019

The Nomination, Remuneration
and Governance Committee has
worked on improving the process
of evaluating the performance of
the Board, Board committees and
individual Board members and
has reviewed the composition of
the committees emerged from
the Board after the appointment
of the Directors for the new
term commencing in March
2019, to ensure these have the
right composition in terms of
independence and expertise.

The Company continues to
recognise the significance of an
effective corporate governance
culture and has accordingly
adopted its amended Corporate
Governance Guidelines in 2019,
which encompass the provisions
of the Corporate Governance
Code and best industry practices.
Corporate governance
issues remain on agenda of
the Company’s Board, with
committees such as the
Nomination, Remuneration
and Governance Committee
being tasked with the review
of the corporate governance
framework and all related matters.

The Company’s Board Secretary
and Compliance Officer was
appointed in 2019 as the
Corporate Governance Officer
replacing the Chief Executive
Officer, considering the nature of
the role being undertaken and the
suitability of the experience and
qualifications.

In line with amendments to
the CCL in 2018, the Company
implemented the cumulative
voting at its Annual General
Meeting convened on 31 March
2019.

3. COMMUNICATION
WITH INVESTORS AND
SHAREHOLDERS
The Company is committed to
the provision of timely, accurate
and transparent information
to its shareholders, investors,
regulators and other stakeholders
in accordance with the disclosure
requirements prescribed in the
applicable laws and regulations.
The Company ensures that key

financial materials and other
disclosures are maintained on its
website at all times and disclosed
in a timely manner in accordance
with the prescribed regulatory
timeframes, thereby ensuring
that all shareholders have
access to material information
required prior to any General
Meeting. The Company’s main
means of communication with
the shareholders are the Annual

Report and the Annual General
Meeting, which is attended by the
Directors, and the shareholders
are afforded the opportunity to
discuss and question the Board.
Furthermore, the Company has
published on its website the rights
and obligations of shareholders to
ensure they are able to exercise
the same effectively.

4. SHAREHOLDING AND OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
4.1 Company’s Share Capital
As of 31 December 2019, the Company had issued 460,000,000 ordinary shares of a nominal value of
BD 0.100 each, all of which are fully paid.
4.2 Ownership Structure by Nationality and Category:
The table below shows the distribution of the Company’s share ownership by nationality and category:
Shareholding %
No.

Shareholder
Classification

Individuals

Corporate

Government or
Organisations

Total

1.

Bahraini

161,593,023

123,406,946

169,262,986

454,262,955

2.

GCC

3,647,609

842,700

-

4,490,309

3.

Arab

312,913

-

-

312,913

4.

Foreign

926,572

7,251

-

933,823

TOTAL

166,480,117

124,256,897

169,262,986

460,000,000
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Corporate Governance
Continued

4.3 Ownership Structure by Size (5% or More):
The table below shows the distribution of Ownership of the Company’s shares by size (5% and above):
Number of
shares held

Shareholding %

122,735,695

26.682

Royal Charity Organisation

46,457,291

10.099

3.

Baytik Bahrain Real Estate Holding Co. W.L.L. (100%
indirectly owned by Kuwait Finance House K.S.C.P.
(Kuwait))

39,756,895

8.643

4.

Bayan Group for Property Investment S.P.C. (100%
indirectly owned by Kuwait Finance House K.S.C.P.
(Kuwait))

31,842,988

6.922

No.

Name

1.

Social Insurance Organisation (Pension Fund)

2.

4.4 Ownership Structure by Size of Ownership:
The table below shows the distribution of ownership of the Company’s shares by size of ownership:
Shareholding (Shares)

No. of Shares Held No. of Shareholders

Shareholding %

Less than 50,000

93,867,055

16,672

20.41

50,000 to less than 500,000

63,087,058

771

13.71

500,000 to less than 5,000,000

32,113,884

28

6.98

270,932,003

9

58.90

460,000,000

17,480

100.00

More than 5,000,000
TOTAL
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4.5 Ownership by Directors and Executive Management:
The table below shows the Directors’ and Executive Management shareholding:
Number of
shares held

Shareholding %

Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

253,826

0.055

2.

Essa Mohamed Najibi

100,500

0.022

3.

Hesham Jaffar Al Rayyes

100,000

0.022

4.

Saqer Shaheen Saqer*

100,000

0.022

5.

Ahmed Yusuf Abdulla Yusuf

100,000

0.022

6.

Fuad Ali Taqi

30,000

0.007

7.

Hamed Yousef Mashal

18,400

0.004

8.

Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi

5,000

0.001

No.

Name

1.

* Saqer Shaheen Saqer’s membership ended on 31 March 2019.
4.6 Directors and Executive Management (and Dependents) Trading During 2019:
The table below shows the Directors’ and Executive Management trading for 2019:
Shares
held at
31 December Transfer
2018
Transaction

Sale
Transaction

Purchase
Transaction

Shares
held at 31
December
2019

1. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi* Director

353,826

100,000

N/A

N/A

253,826

2. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi*

Director

100,000

100,000

N/A

N/A

0

3. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi*

Director

105,000

100,000

N/A

N/A

5,000

Name

Position/
Kinship

* Transactions relate to release of qualification shares previously held in their capacities as representatives
of Kuwait Finance House B.S.C.(C) (then owner of Baytik Bahrain Real Estate Holding Co. W.L.L. and Bayan
Group for Property Investment S.P.C.).
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5. GOVERNANCE AND ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Shareholders

Board of Directors

Board
Secretary

Fraser Suites
Committee

Executive
Committee

Chief Executive
Officer

Audit
Committee

Corporate
Soical
Responsibility

NRGC

Projects
Development
Division

CFO

Head of
Internal Audit

Compliance
Officer

Legal Affairs
Department

Assets
Management
Division

Support Services
Division

Property
Management

Information
Technology

Projects
Management

Marketing

HR & Admin

Operations

Leasing Admin

Financial
Control

Business
Development

Note:
•
•

The Company has adopted a new Organisational Structure on 5 December 2019, but the same will be
implemented in 2020.
Fraser Suites Committee was dissolved and reconstituted under the Board of Directors of Fraser Suites
Seef - Bahrain S.P.C.
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6. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
6.1 Board Composition and Status of Directors
As per the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company shall be administered by a Board comprising of
at least five (5) directors and not exceeding thirteen (13) directors (“Directors”). As of 31 December 2019, the
total number of Directors is ten (10). The Board also elected by secret ballot from its Directors a chairman
(“Chairman”), and a vice chairman (“Vice Chairman”) for its term.
For the financial year ending 31 December 2019, the Company’ Board and status of membership was as
follows:
DIRECTOR

DESIGNATION

STATUS

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

Chairman

Non-Executive/Independent

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

Vice Chairman

Non-Executive/Independent

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati

Director

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki*

Director

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi

Director

Executive/Non-Independent

Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi

Director

Executive/Non-Independent

Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal*

Director

Executive/Non-Independent

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

Director

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Hesham Jaffar Al Rayyes

Director

Non-Executive/Non-Independent

Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi

Director

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Anwar Abdulla Ghuloom**

Director

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Saqer Shaheen Saqer**

Director

Non-Executive/Independent

* Membership commenced on 31 March 2019
** Membership ended on 31 March 2019
For the financial year ending 31 December 2019, the following Director was also a director in another listed
company in the Kingdom of Bahrain:
DIRECTOR

NAME OF LISTED COMPANY

DESIGNATION

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

Nass Corporation B.S.C.

Director
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6.2 Director Profiles
Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi
Chairman
Status/ Appointed By

Non-Executive/Independent

Membership Duration

10 years

Committee Membership

•
•

Chairman of the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance
Committee
Member of Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

Qualification

Bachelor of Civil Engineering

Experience

Over 34 years of experience in directorship and executive positions in
the real estate sector, in addition to managing the family businesses.

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chairman - Najibi Investment Company B.S.C.(C)
Chairman - United Commercial Services Co.
Chairman - AlSouq Real Estate Company W.L.L.
Chairman - LAMA Real Estate W.L.L.
Chairman – Ibdar Capital B.S.C.(C)
Chairman – Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Chairman – Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Director - Binaa Al Bahrain W.L.L.
Director - Gulf Air B.S.C.(C)
Director – The Malls Real Estate Development B.S.C.(C)
Director - Bahrain Scrapmould Company W.L.L.
Director - Crown Industries W.L.L.
Director - Lona Real Estate B.S.C.(C)
Director – Bahrain International Travel W.L.L.
Director – World Decor W.L.L.
Director – Middle East Traders B.S.C.(C)
Member of the Board of Trustees, Director and Chairman of
Executive Committee – Royal University for Women

Positions in other key regulatory, Founding Member and Managing Director – Najibi Investments B.S.C.(C)
government or commercial entities
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Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed
Vice Chairman
Status/ Appointed By

Non-Executive/Independent
(Royal Charity Organisation)

Membership Duration

10 years

Committee Membership

•
•

Chairman of Social Responsibility Committee
Member of the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance
Committee

Qualification

•

Doctorate in Industrial Management (PhD) – University of London
(UK)
Master of Industrial Management – University of Dublin (Ireland)
Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering – University of Portsmouth
(UK)

•
•
Experience

Over 45 years of experience in executive positions in key
governmental and private institutions

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•

Director – Fraser Suites Seef – Bahrain S.P.C.
Director – Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Director - Nass Corporation B.S.C.
Deputy Chairman - Family Bank B.S.C.(C)
Member of the Board of Trustees – Egyptian Zakat House
Director – Bahrain Health and Safety Society

Positions in other key regulatory, Secretary General of Royal Charity Organisation
government or commercial entities
Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati
Director
Status/ Appointed By

Non-Executive/Independent
(Social Insurance Organisation)

Membership Duration

4 years

Committee Membership

•
•

Qualification

Bachelor of Accounting – Cairo University (Egypt)

Experience

Over 36 years of experience in key positions in the Social Insurance
Organisation

Board Memberships

•
•

Member of the Audit Committee
Member of Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

Director – Fraser Suites Seef – Bahrain S.P.C.
Director – Seef Entertainment S.P.C.

Positions in other key regulatory, Chief Executive Officer – Social Insurance Organisation
government or commercial entities
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Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki
Director
Status/ Appointed By

Non-Executive/Independent
(Social Insurance Organisation)

Membership Duration

1 year

Committee Membership

Member of the Executive Committee

Qualification

•
•
•
•

Master of Business Administration (MBA) – University of
Glamorgan (UK)
General Management Programme – Harvard Business School
(USA)
The Gulf Executive Development Programme – University of
Virginia [Darden Business School] (USA)
Executive Management Diploma – University of Bahrain

Experience

Over 41 years of experience in executive positions in financial
institutions.

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chairman – The BENEFIT Company B.S.C.(C)
Chairman - SINNAD S.P.C.
Director – Fraser Suites Seef – Bahrain S.P.C.
Director – Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Vice Chairman of Board of Trustees – The Kingdom University
Director – Social Insurance Organisation
Director – Osool Asset Management B.S.C.(C).

Positions in other key regulatory,
N/A
government or commercial entities
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Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi
Director
Status/ Appointed By

Executive/Non-Independent

Membership Duration

13 years

Committee Membership

Member of the Audit Committee

Qualification

•
•
•

Experience

Over 31 years of experience in conventional and Islamic banking

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Master of Business Administration (MBA) – University of Bahrain
Leadership Development Programme – University of Virginia (USA)
CFO Strategic Leadership Programme - Ivey Business School
(Canada)
Chairman – Muharraq Mall Co. W.L.L.
Director - Lama Real Estate W.L.L.
Director - Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Director - Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Director - Delmon 1 Co. W.L.L.
Director - PK Development Co. W.L.L.
Member of the Board of Trustees, Director and Head of Finance
Committee – Ibn Khuldoon National School
Director – WAQF Fund (Central Bank of Bahrain)

Positions in other key regulatory, Chief Financial Officer - Kuwait Finance House (Bahrain) B.S.C.(C)
government or commercial entities
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Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi
Director
Status/ Appointed By

Executive/ Non-Independent

Membership Duration

10 years

Committee Membership

Member of the Executive Committee

Qualification

•
•
•

Master of Civil Engineering/ Construction Management (MSc) - The
Catholic University of America (USA)
Bachelor of Civil Engineering – University of Bahrain
Diploma in Building Management – City & Guilds of London
Institute (UK)

Experience

Over 36 years of experience in project management and civil
engineering

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director - Muharraq Mall Co. W.L.L.
Director - Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Director - Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Director - Diyar Al Muharraq W.L.L.
Director – Diyar Al Muharraq Housing Development Co. S.P.C.
Director – Diyar Al Bareh Real Estate S.P.C.
Director – Diyar Al Naseem Real Estate S.P.C.

Positions in other key regulatory, Senior Manager – Head of Real Estate Projects Management – Kuwait
government or commercial entities Finance House (Bahrain) B.S.C.(C).
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Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal
Director
Status/ Appointed By:

Executive/Non-Independent

Membership Duration

1 year

Committee Membership

Member of the Executive Committee

Qualification

•
•
•
•
•

Master of Business Administration (MBA) - University of Warwick
[Warwick Business School] (UK)
Bachelor of Computer and Business Studies (BSc) - University of
Warwick [Warwick Business School] (UK)
MRICS – Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
Project Management Professional (PMP)

Experience

Over 15 years of experience in conventional and Islamic banking

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director - Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Director - Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Director – Energy Central Utilities – Bahrain South Water Company W.L.L.
Director – Bayan Group for Property Investment S.P.C.
Director – Baytik Bahrain Real Estate Holding Company W.L.L.
Director – Baytik Investments One S.P.C.
Director – Baytik Investments Two S.P.C.
Director – Royal Arabian W.L.L.
Director – Diyar Homes Company W.L.L.
Director – Durrat 4 W.L.L.
Director - Al Masarrat Real Estate 2 S.P.C.
Director – Bridge S.P.C. Limited (Cayman Islands)
Executive Committee Member – Diyar Al-Muharraq Co. W.L.L.
Technical Committee Member – PK Development W.L.L.

Positions in other key regulatory, Senior Manager – Investments - Kuwait Finance House (Bahrain)
government or commercial entities B.S.C.(C)
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Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi
Director
Status/ Appointed By:

Non-Executive/ Independent

Membership Duration

10 years

Committee Membership

•
•

Chairman of the Executive Committee
Member of the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance
Committee

Qualification

•
•

Bachelor of Accounting (BSc) - King Fahad University (KSA)
Master of Business Administration (MBA) - DePaul University (USA)

Experience

Over 24 years of experience in Islamic banking and directorship in the
real estate sector

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director - Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Director - Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Director - LAMA Real Estate W.L.L.
Director – Binaa Al Bahrain W.L.L.
Director - Gulf Real Estate Development Company S.S.C (c)
Vice Chairman – Capital Real Estate Company B.S.C. (c)
Director – Bahrain International Golf Course Company B.S.C. (c)
Director – INJAZ Bahrain
Member of the Board of Trustees – Ibn Khuldoon National School

Positions in other key regulatory, Chief Executive Officer – Khaleeji Commercial Bank B.S.C.
government or commercial entities
Mr. Hesham Jaffar Al Rayyes
Director
Status/ Appointed By:

Non-Executive/Non-Independent

Membership Duration

7 years

Committee Membership

Member of the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee

Qualification

•
•
•

Bachelor of Quantity Surveying - Portsmouth Polytechnic
University (UK)
Member of The Council for Regulating the Practice of Engineering
Professions (CRPEP)
Member of Royal Institute Chartered Surveyors (UK)

Experience

Over 34 years of experience in quantity surveying and project management.

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•

Director - Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Director - Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Owner and Managing Director – Dar Al Huda Apartments S.P.C.
Director – Sheikh Essa Bin Salman Al Khalifa Educational Trust

Positions in other key regulatory, Owner and Chief Executive Officer – HAJ Quantity Surveyors S.P.C.
government or commercial entities
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Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi
Director
Status/ Appointed By:

Non-Executive/ Independent

Membership Duration

4 years

Committee Membership

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Qualification

Master of Business Administration (MBA) – University of South Wales
(UK)

Experience

Over 34 years of experience in conventional and Islamic banking

Board Memberships

•
•
•

Director - Fraser Suites Seef-Bahrain S.P.C.
Director - Seef Entertainment S.P.C.
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, Member of the Board of
Trustees and Member of the Finance Committee - Ibn Khuldoon
National School

Positions in other key regulatory,
N/A
government or commercial entities
Mr. Anwar Abdulla Ghuloom
Director (until 31 March 2019)
Status/ Appointed By:

Non-Executive/ Independent
(Social Insurance Organisation)

Membership Duration

3 years

Committee Membership

Member of the Audit Committee

Qualification

•
•
•
•
•

Experience

Over 36 years of experience in key financial and executive positions in
the governmental sector.

Board Memberships

Director – SICO B.S.C.(C).

Bachelor of Accounting - Al Azhar University (Egypt)
Member of the Association of Accounting Technician (AAT) - (UK)
Arab Certified Public Accountant (ACPA)
Certified Islamic Public Accountant (CIPA)
The Gulf Executive Development Programme - University of
Virginia [Darden Business School] (USA)

Positions in other key regulatory, Head of Financial Affairs – Military Pension Fund
government or commercial entities
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Mr. Saqer Shaheen Saqer
Director (until 31 March 2019)
Status/ Appointed By:

Non-Executive/Independent

Membership Duration

6 years

Committee Membership

•

Member of the Executive Committee

Qualification

•
•
•
•
•

Master of Industrial and System Engineering
Bachelor of Industrial Engineering
Member of the Institute of Industrial Engineering
Member of the Bahrain Society of Engineers
Registered International Consultant for United Nations Industrial
Development Organisation

Experience

Over 34 years of experience in leadership of key governmental and
private institutions, in addition to managing the family business.

Board Memberships

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chairman – Shaheen Group B.S.C.(C)
Chairman - Awal Products Co Ltd. S.P.C.
Chairman - Gulf Services Company S.P.C.
Chairman - Gypsum Products Trading Co. W.L.L.
Chairman - Shaheen Electromechanical Co. S.P.C.
Chairman – Hilti Bahrain W.L.L.
Chairman – Al Zakharif Factory S.P.C.
Chairman – Al Zakharuf Gypsum Contracting S.P.C.
Chairman – Falcon Management W.L.L.
Executive Director – Abrasive Technology Industries Co. (KSA)
Director – Naseej B.S.C.(C)
Director – Bahrain Marina Development Company S.P.C.

Positions in other key regulatory,
N/A
government or commercial entities

6.3 Mandate of the Board

Monitoring management
performance and their
implementation of strategic
decisions;

•

Convene and prepare the
agenda for the shareholder
meetings;

•

Monitoring conflict of interest
and preventing abusive related
party transactions;

•

Approve and monitor
the progress of major

•

Annual approval of budget
and monitoring management

The Board’s roles and
responsibilities, include but are not
limited to, the following:
•

Establishing the objectives of
the Company;

•

Determining the overall
business performance, plans
and strategy of the Company;
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capital expenditure, capital
management, loans, including
the sale of movable and
immovable property;

•

performance in relation to the
same thereof;

Code and any other applicable
laws or regulations.

•

Adoption and review of
management structure and
responsibilities;

6.4 Appointment, Election and
Termination of Directors

•

Adoption and review of
the systems and controls
framework;

•

Causing financial statements
to be prepared which
accurately disclose the
Company’s financial position;

•

Ensuring the establishment
of proper succession planning
for the Chief Executive Officer
and senior management in the
Company; and •
Ensuring compliance with
various laws and regulations,
including but not limited to, the
CCL, Corporate Governance
Code, CBB laws and
regulations, Bahrain Bourse
laws and regulations, Labour
Law and other applicable laws
and regulations.

Further details of the roles and
responsibilities of the Board are
set out in the Board Charter and
Articles of Association. These
roles and responsibilities are in line
with the regulatory requirements
contained in the CCL, CBB
Rulebook, Corporate Governance

The Board is elected for a term
of three (3) years in the Annual
General Meeting, such term being
capable of renewal. The current
term of the Board commenced
on 31 March 2019 and will end on
31 March 2022, or the date of the
Annual General Meeting on the
same year, whichever is earlier.
The appointment and election
of Directors is subject to the
provisions of the CCL, Corporate
Governance Code and CBB rules
and regulations. The Directors are
appointed in a General Meeting of
the shareholders from amongst
candidates proposed by the
Board and/or appointed by major
shareholders in exercise of their
rights under the CCL.
The Directors’ appointment is
deemed terminated upon expiry
of the Board term, after which
the Directors in question will
be subject to re-election. The
Company’s Articles of Association,
CCL and the Board Charter list
all the grounds for termination of
membership of the Board. The
General Meeting, via majority vote,

has the authority to terminate the
membership of some or all of the
Board. This is without prejudice
to the rights of shareholders
qualifying under the provisions
of the CCL to terminate the
appointment of any Director they
appointed. As of 31 December
2019, no memberships were
terminated.
6.5 Director Appointment Letter
The Company has written
appointment letters with
each Director, which set out
the Directors’ roles, duties,
responsibilities, accountabilities, in
addition to other aspects relating
to their appointment such as term,
the time commitment required, the
committee assignments (if any),
their remuneration and expense
reimbursement entitlement
and access to independent
professional advice, as and when
required.
The Directors are generally
required to adhere to the
Company’s Articles of Association,
CCL, the Corporate Governance
Code, CBB Rulebook, Code
of Conduct and Ethics and all
applicable laws and regulations.
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6.6 Induction and Training of
Directors
The Board, through its Board
Secretary, ensures that each
newly appointed Director receives
all information to strengthen and
support his/her contribution from
the commencement of his/her
term, via meetings with senior
management, presentations
regarding the Company’s strategic
plans, significant financial and
accounting frameworks, financial
performance, investments and
properties, in addition to access
to its Internal and External
Auditors and legal advisor. The
Board Secretary ensures that
each Director has access to all
pertinent Company information,
including constitutional
documents, charters, policies and
procedures, directors’ indemnity
insurance policy and other key
documents, which are stored
on and are accessible from the
Company’s electronic Board
portal.
The Nomination, Remuneration
and Governance Committee is
also responsible for arranging the
necessary training to ensure that
the Directors are kept informed
of the latest industry trends and
developments. During 2019,
the aforementioned committee
has recommended corporate
governance training, which will be
conducted in 2020.
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6.7 Board Secretary
The Board is supported by
its Board Secretary, who
provides it with professional and
administrative support. The Board
Secretary also acts as secretary
for the Board committees
and the General Meetings.
The appointment of the Board
Secretary is subject to approval
of the Board. The Company’s
Board Secretary is Ms. Maryam
Husain who joined the Company
in May 2019, and is also the Legal
Advisor and Compliance Officer.
She holds a Bachelor of Laws
(LLB), Master of Laws (LLM) from
the University of Warwick and a
postgraduate higher diploma in
Legal Practice Course (LPC) from
the College of Law in the United
Kingdom, with more than fourteen
(14) years of experience.
6.8 Board Remuneration Policy
and Sitting Fees
The Company follows the
provisions of Article 188 of
the CCL in determining the
remuneration of the Directors.
Remuneration paid to the
Directors for the financial year
ended 31 December 2018 was
BD 230,000 as approved in the
Annual General Meeting.
The proposed remuneration to be
paid to the Directors for financial
year ended 31 December 2019 is
BD 230,000 and will be presented

for the shareholders’ approval in
the upcoming Annual General
Meeting.
Sitting fees paid to the Directors
for attending the Board and its
committees’ meetings in 2019
are BD 300 per meeting for the
Chairman of the Board or any
committee, and BD 200 per
meeting for Directors or committee
members. The total sitting fees
paid for Board and Committee
Meetings are as follows:
TYPE OF MEETING

FEES IN BD

Board

14,300

Committee

9,900

TOTAL

24,200

6.9 Board Meetings
In accordance with the legal and
regulatory requirements and the
Board Charter, the Board must
meet frequently but in no event
less than four (4) times a year. The
Company’s Board has exceeded
this requirement by meeting
seven (7) times in the financial
year ended 31 December 2019.
In addition to meetings convened
during the aforementioned
year, a number of resolutions
were passed unanimously via
circulation to the Directors (with
the exclusion of any conflicted
Directors where applicable), which
were always ratified at the next
Board meeting convened.

Below is a breakdown of the Board and Committee Meetings convened during 2019 and their attendance:
NO. OF
MEETINGS

DIRECTOR

BOARD/COMMITTEE

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

Board of Directors
Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

7
2
2

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

Board of Directors

7

Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee

2

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

2

Board of Directors
Executive Committee
Audit Committee
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

6
1
4
2

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati

Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki* Board of Directors
Executive Committee
Board of Directors
Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi

5
2
7

Audit Committee

5

Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi

Board of Directors
Executive Committee

7
4

Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal*

Board of Directors
Executive Committee

5
3

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

Board of Directors
Executive Committee
Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee

7
4
2

Mr. Hesham Jaffar Al Rayyes

Board of Directors
Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee

7
2

Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi

Board of Directors
Audit Committee

7
5

Mr. Anwar Abdulla Ghuloom**

Board of Directors
Audit Committee

1
1

Mr. Saqer Shaheen Saqer**

Board of Directors
Executive Committee

2
1

* Membership commenced on 21 April 2019
** Membership ended on 31 March 2019
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The dates and attendance details of the Board meetings are as follows:
DIRECTOR

1/2019
2/2019 3/2019 4/2019 5/2019 6/2019 7/2019
13/02/19 19/03/19 21/04/19 30/04/19 30/07/19 29/10/19 05/12/19

%

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

P

P

P

P

(

P

P

100

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati

P

×

P

P

P

P

P

87.5

Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki*

-

-

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal*

-

-

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mr. Hesham Jaffar Al Rayyes

P

P

P

P

(

P

P

100

Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

100

Mr. Anwar Abdulla Ghuloom**

P

×

-

-

-

-

-

50

Mr. Saqer Shaheen Saqer**

P

P

-

-

-

-

100

* Appointment commenced on 31 March 2019
** Appointment ended on 31 March 2019
( Attended via teleconference
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6.10 Major Business Transacted by the Board in 2019
The major business transacted by the Board in 2019 includes the following:
DATE

SUBJECT

13/02/2019

•
•
•
•
•
•

Approval of 2019 Financial Statements and related disclosures
Approval of net profit appropriations
Approval of Corporate Governance Report
Approval of annual employee bonus pool
Discuss AGM formalities
Issuance of Corporate Guarantee for refinancing of subsidiary
(Muharraq Mall Co. W.L.L.)

19/03/2019

•

Review of nominations and applications for Board membership and elections
in the upcoming Annual General Meeting
Review AGM formalities

•
21/04/2019

•

Selection of Chairman and Vice Chairman
Board Committee Memberships
Amendment of Director and Authorised Signatory Registers with regulatory
authorities and financial institutions
Nomination of Directors to serve on the Boards of subsidiaries and affiliates

30/04/2019

•

Approval of first quarter Financial Statements and related disclosures

17/07/2019
(via circulation)

•

Amendment of banking payment mandates

30/07/2019

•
•
•

Approval of semi-annual Financial Statements and related disclosures
Approval of write-off of various bad debts
Formal dissolution of Fraser Suites Board Committee

29/08/2019
(via circulation)

•

Approval of issuance of Seef Properties of cost overrun and profit servicing
undertaking as security for LAMA Real Estate W.L.L. Syndicated Murabaha
Financing of BD 25.5 million with Khaleeji Commercial Bank B.S.C. and Kuwait
Finance House B.S.C.(C)

29/10/2019

•

Approval of third quarter Financial Statements and related disclosures

05/12/2019

•
•
•
•
•
•

Approval of amended Organisational Structure
Approval of Chief Executive Officer Succession Policy and Procedures
Approve Corporate Governance Director Training
Appointment of new Corporate Governance Officer
Approval of Company’s budget for 2020
Nomination of Directors to serve on the Board of LAMA Real Estate W.L.L.

•
•
•
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7. BOARD COMMITTEES
In accordance with the Company’s constitutional documents, charters and the requirements set forth by
the Corporate Governance Code and CBB regulations, the Board has delegated specific responsibilities to a
number of Board committees (each a “Committee” and collectively, the “Committees”). Each Committee has
its own formal written charter that sets out its roles and responsibilities. The main Committees are as follows:
•

Executive Committee

•

Audit Committee

•

Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee

•

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

7.1 Executive Committee
7.1.1 Composition
The Executive Committee’s membership for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was as follows:
DIRECTOR

DESIGNATION

STATUS

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

Committee Chairman

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi

Member

Executive/Non-Independent

Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal*

Member

Executive/Non-Independent

Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki*

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati**

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Saqer Shaheen Saqer**

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

* Membership commenced on 21 April 2019
** Membership ended on 31 March 2019
7.1.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The Executive Committee was established to support the decision-making process of the Board in a
wide range of business matters, from strategy planning and policy to investment and risk. The Executive
Committee assists the Board in discharging its oversight responsibilities when there is a critical need for
prompt review and action, with a focus on financing requirements, including raising capital, coordination with
bankers and financial advisers, investment management, assets and liability management and other financial
matters related to the investment activities of the Company.
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7.1.3 Meetings, Attendance and Sitting Fees
The Executive Committee Charter stipulates that it shall meet at least six (6) times a year. During 2019, only
four (4) meetings were convened as the full Board had met seven (7) times and addressed all matters which
may have been addressed by the Executive Committee. The dates, attendance record and sitting fees of the
Executive Committee meetings are as follows:
DIRECTOR

1/2019
2/2019
3/2019
4/2019
10/02/19 02/06/19 20/10/19 02/12/19

%

SITTING
FEES (BD)

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

P

P

P

P

100

1,200

Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi

P

P

P

P

100

800

Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal*

N/A

P

P

P

100

600

Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki*

N/A

O

P

P

66.7

400

P

N/A

N/A

N/A

100

200

P

N/A

N/A

N/A

100

200

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati**
Mr. Saqer Shaheen Saqer**

* Membership commenced on 21 April 2019
** Membership ended on 31 March 2019
Note:
Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim Al Bastaki was unable to attend Executive Committee Meeting No. (2/2019) due to
travel plans that could not be altered.
7.1.4 Committee Activities
The Committee activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 included the following:
•

Reviewed the Marketing Plan for 2019 and Marketing Updates.

•

Reviewed Leasing Updates for Seef Mall (Seef).

•

Approved various capital expenditure items for Seef Properties and Seef Entertainment S.P.C.

•

Reviewed the Company’s Budget for 2020.

•

Reviewed the strategy of Seef Entertainment S.P.C. and new entertainment plans.
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7.2 Audit Committee
7.2.1 Composition
The Audit Committee’s membership for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was as follows:
DIRECTOR

DESIGNATION

STATUS

Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi

Committee Chairman

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi

Member

Executive/Non-Independent

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati*

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Anwar Abdulla Ghuloom**

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

* Membership commenced on 21 April 2019
** Membership ended on 31 March 2019
Note:
Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi was Committee Chairman until Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi was appointed on 21 April 2019
in compliance with the independence requirement.
7.2.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The Audit Committee plays a key role in assisting the Board to fulfill its oversight responsibilities in areas
of financial reporting, internal control systems, risk management systems and the internal and external
audit functions. Its principal functions are to monitor the periodic reviews of the accounting and financial
reporting processes and systems of internal control that are conducted by the Company’s independent
auditors, financial and senior management and internal auditing department; and review and evaluate the
independence and performance of the independent auditors.
In performing the oversight functions, the Audit Committee oversees the adoption of quality accounting
policies and internal controls and seeks to hire effective independent auditors, in order to deter fraud,
anticipate financial risks and promote accurate, timely and meaningful disclosure of financial and other
information to the Board and stakeholders.
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7.2.3 Meetings, Attendance and Sitting Fees
The Audit Committee Charter stipulates that it shall meet at least four (4) times a year. During 2019, the Audit
Committee convened five (5) meetings in compliance with this requirement. The dates, attendance record and
sitting fees of the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:
DIRECTOR

1/2019
2/2019
3/2019
4/2019
5/2019
11/02/19 21/04/19 28/04/19 24/07/19 27/10/19

%

SITTING
FEES (BD)

Mr. Fuad Ali Taqi

P

P

P

P

P

100

1,200

Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi

P

P

P

P

P

100

1,100

N/A

P

P

P

P

100

800

P

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

100

200

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati*
Mr. Anwar Abdulla Ghuloom**

* Membership commenced on 21 April 2019
** Membership ended on 31 March 2019
7.2.4 Committee Activities
The Committee activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 included the following:
•

Reviewed the Company’s consolidated quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial results.

•

Reviewed, with both the External Auditor and Executive Management, the audit approach and
methodology applied, and in particular any key audit matters included in the year end External Auditor
Report.

•

Approved the Internal Audit Plan for 2019.

•

Reviewed significant findings of the Internal Audit Department, the External Auditor and regulators, and
Management’s response to their recommendations.

•

Reviewed the semi-annual report on legal and regulatory compliance matters, including but not limited to,
compliance with the Commercial Companies Law, Bahrain Bourse laws, the CBB Disclosure Standards and
Volume 6 of the Rulebook.

•

Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems and its accounting,
financial reporting and Internal Audit functions.
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•

Reviewed and monitored the External Auditor’s performance.

•

Recommended for Board approval the re-appointment of the External Auditor and 2019 external audit
engagement letters and fees.

•

Reviewed changes in accounting principles and practices proposed by the External Auditor and Executive
Management, where applicable.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the banking payment matrix and the resulting
amendment in the Discretionary Authority Limits.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval critical financial disclosures and press releases.

•

Reviewed the status of the Group’s compliance with VAT laws and regulations.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the revocation of the standalone Whistleblowing Policy
as replaced by the Corporate Governance Guidelines.

7.3 Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee
7.3.1 Composition
The Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee’s membership for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 was as follows:
DIRECTOR

DESIGNATION

STATUS

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

Committee Chairman

Non-Executive/Independent

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Hesham Abdulrahman Al Rayyes

Member

Non-Executive/Non-Independent

7.3.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee set up by the Board is entrusted with combined
advisory responsibilities concerning the following:
•

Nomination, appointment, re-appointment or dismissal of directors, members of Board committees and
members of the Executive Management;

•

Remuneration policies of the Company;

•

Evaluation of Board, Board Committee, Director and Executive Management performance;

•

Proposal and review of individual remuneration of the Board and Board Committee members and
Executive Management, based on performance;

•

Set up and review of policies of the Company on corporate governance; and

•

Succession planning for the Chief Executive Officer and members of senior management.
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7.3.3 Meetings, Attendance and Sitting Fees
The Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee Charter stipulates that it shall meet at least
twice (2) a year. During 2019, the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee convened two
(2) meetings in compliance with this requirement. The dates, attendance record and sitting fees of the
Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee meetings are as follows:
1/2019
12/02/19

2/2019
02/12/19

%

SITTING
FEES (BD)

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

P

P

100

600

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

P

P

100

400

Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

P

P

100

400

Mr. Hesham Abdulrahman Al Rayyes

P

P

100

400

DIRECTOR

7.3.4 Committee Activities
The Committee activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 included the following:
•

Reviewed and recommend for Board approval the Corporate Governance Report for 2018.

•

Review and report to the Board on the result of 2018 Board evaluations and assessments.

•

Review human resource updates, manpower affairs and Tamkeen programmes.

•

Reviewed the 2019 Training Plan.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the bonus distribution proposal for 2018.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the Board remuneration for 2018 financial year.

•

Reviewed the human resources budget for 2020 for incorporation into the overall budget to be approved
by the Board.

•

Reviewed benchmarking of Staff Costs to Total Revenue.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the amended Organisational Structure.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval the CEO Succession Policy and Procedures.

•

Reviewed and recommended for Board approval Corporate Governance Training to be conducted.

•

Discussed the organisation of a strategy brainstorming session for the Board.

•

Reviewed the Board sitting fees structure.

•

Appointed a new Corporate Governance Officer.

•

Reviewed the status of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
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7.4 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
7.4.1 Composition
The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee’s membership for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
was as follows:
DIRECTOR

DESIGNATION

STATUS

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

Committee Chairman

Non-Executive/Independent

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati

Member

Non-Executive/Independent

7.4.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee is delegated with the authority from the Board for the
administration and disbursement of donations, including the selection of charitable organisations, allocation of
approved budget into various sectors, setting conditions of donations, reviewing and monitoring performance
of organisations, cancellations of donations and recommendation of overall budget for shareholder approval.
7.4.3 Meetings, Attendance and Sitting Fees
The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee Charter stipulates that it shall meet at least twice (2) a year.
During 2019, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee convened two (2) meetings in compliance
with this requirement. The dates, attendance details and sitting fees of the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee meetings are as follows:
1/2019
15/05/19

2/2019
12/12/19

%

SITTING
FEES (BD)

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

P

P

100

600

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

P

P

100

400

Mrs. Eman Mustafa Al Murbati

P

P

100

400

DIRECTOR

7.4.4 Committee Activities
The Committee activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 included the following:
•

Approved the Corporate Social Responsibility Strategy for 2019.

•

Approved the Donations List for 2019.

•

Reviewed the Corporate Social Responsibility activities conducted for 2019.

•

Approved the Corporate Social Responsibility Plan for 2020.
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8. BOARD AND COMMITTEE EVALUATION
The Board through its Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee conducts annual individual,
Board and Committee performance evaluations in accordance with the respective charters. The process is
intended to identify areas for improvement and increase efficiency and to assess individual contributions to
the work of the Board, in addition to the Board as a whole.
The Directors have effectively completed their performance evaluation for the financial year ended 31
December 2019, the results of which will be used to improve the performance for the upcoming year. The
Board will conduct its next evaluation at the end of 2020.
9. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
9.1 Segregation of Duties and Delegation
In accordance with the regulatory requirements, the positions of the Chairman and Vice Chairman
are segregated from those of the Chief Executive Officer. Furthermore, there is a clear delineation of
responsibilities between the aforementioned positions as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association
and Board Charters. The Board has delegated various authorities to the Chief Executive Officer, Executive
Management and other members of Senior Management by virtue of the Discretionary Authority Limits
document periodically reviewed by the Board.
9.2 Executive Management Profiles
As of 31 December 2019, the Executive Management of the Company was comprised of the following:
Mr. Ahmed Yusuf
Chief Executive Officer
Qualification

Bachelor of Civil Engineering - Kuwait University (Kuwait)

Appointment

2015

Experience

Over 23 years of experience in real estate and project management for major regional
companies. Prior to joining the Company, he served in senior management roles in
Edamah Real Estate Company, Abaad Real Estate Company, Gulf Development Real
Estate Company, Salhiya Real Estate Company, Kuwait Hotels Company and Kuwait
University.
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Mr. Khalid Janahi
General Manager – Support Services
Qualification

•
•
•

Appointment

2018

Experience

Over 37 years of experience in information technology, delivering systems and solutions
to complex business scenarios with extensive leadership skills and hands-on experience
in programming, databases and IT project management. Prior to joining the Company,
he served in senior management roles in Mumtalakat, BAPCO, EDS, The Sabre Group
and Gulf Air.

ILM Certification Level 2 (UK)
ITIL Certification (UK)
Diploma in Middle Management – University of Bahrain

Mr. Tarek Darwish
General Manager – Projects and Business Development
Qualification

•
•

Master of Architecture (M.Arch.) - McGill University (Montreal, Canada)
Bachelor of Architecture (B.Arch.) - Al Azhar University (Egypt)

Appointment

2016

Experience

Over 39 years of experience in architectural services, project management and facility
management. Prior to joining the Company, he served in senior management roles in MAF
Properties, Tamdeen Group, Salhiya Real Estate Company, Projacs, Dar Al Handassah,
Arabian Woodwork and Sievenpiper Associates.

Mr. Mohamed Baqi
Manager – Financial Control
Qualification

•
•
•

Appointment

2016

Experience

Over 13 years of experience in the accounting and financial services in the banking and
investment sector. Prior to joining the Company, he served in various roles in Arcapita
Group, Al Baraka Islamic Bank and Mumtalakat.
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Master of Business Administration (MBA) – University of Manchester (UK)
Bachelor of Accounting (BSc) - University of Bahrain
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) – New Hampshire (USA)

Mr. Naser Sharif
Head of Internal Audit
Qualification

•
•
•

Master of Business Administration (MBA) with a finance concentration – University of
Bahrain
Bachelor of Accounting (BSc) - University of Bahrain
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) - Delaware State (USA)

Appointment

2017

Experience

Over 23 years of experience between engineering, finance, accounting, and internal audit
in different sectors such as petrochemicals, industrial automation, investment banks
and oil and gas. Prior to joining the Company, he held various positions and worked for
Gulf Petrochemical Industrial Company (GPIC), Yokogawa Middle East, Arcapita Bank and
Tatweer Petroleum.

9.3 Executive Management Remuneration Policy
The Company bases its Executive Management remuneration practices on the principles prescribed in the
Corporate Governance Code and the CBB Rulebook, namely the following:
•

Attracting and retaining the right calibre of talent with the appropriate skill and knowledge required for
their respective roles; and

•

Aligning the rewards of employees with Company performance and shareholder return.

The Company implements fair and transparent evaluation frameworks to assess the performance of its
employees on an annual basis, which is overseen by the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance
Committee. The Company does not currently have any stock options or performance linked incentives for
Executive Management.
9.4 Remuneration of Top 5 of Executive Management
The top five (5) executives of the Company as of 31 December 2019 are as follows:
a. Chief Executive Officer
b. General Manager – Support Services
c. General Manager – Projects and Business Development
d. Head of Internal Audit
e. Manager of Financial Control
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The Company paid the following remuneration to the top (5) executives:
Remuneration Type
1

Salaries (including allowances)

2

Bonus

3

End of service benefits
Total

Amount (BD)
277,980
53,935
N/A
331,915

10. CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS AND WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
The Company has adopted amended Corporate Governance Guidelines on 31 March 2019, which included
a Code of Conduct and Ethics and the Whistleblowing Policy. The aforementioned guidelines, which are
applicable to both Directors and employees of the Company, are designed to guide individual conduct
and behavior and to ensure that a culture of integrity and honesty is promoted, in addition to encouraging
employees to uphold the reputation of the Company in all their dealings. The guidelines have been prepared in
line with the regulatory requirements and best practices. A copy of the same is maintained on the Company’s
website at all times.
11. KEY PERSONS DEALING POLICY
The Company has implemented a Key Persons Dealing Policy in accordance with the requirements of the
CBB and Bahrain Bourse. The aforementioned policy regulates the trading of securities by Directors and
members of Executive and Senior Management as they may have access to price sensitive information by
virtue of their positions in the Company. A copy of the policy is maintained on the Company’s website at all
times.
12. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines prescribe the policies on conflicts of interests for both
Directors and employees. The Company requires its Directors and employees to issue an Annual Declaration
of Interests. Additionally, in accordance with the Corporate Governance Guidelines, each Director has the
responsibility to disclose any material interests relating to business transactions and agreements, whether
actual, perceived or potential. For any disclosed conflicts, the conflicted Director will be excluded from any
discussions, negotiations or voting relating to the conflict matter.
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During 2019, the following were the conflicts disclosed by the Directors:
DATE

MEETING

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

DECLARED BY:

15/05/2019

CSR Meeting No.
(1/2019)

Donations to Royal University for
Women

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

15/05/2019

CSR Meeting No.
(1/2019)

Donations to Royal Charity
Organisation and Bahrain Health and
Safety Society

Dr. Mustafa Ali Al Sayed

29/08/2019

Written Board
Resolution No.
(2/2019)

Approval of issuance of Seef
Properties of cost overrun and profit
servicing undertaking as security for
LAMA Real Estate W.L.L. Syndicated
Murabaha Financing of BD 25.5 million
with Khaleeji Commercial Bank B.S.C.
and Kuwait Finance House B.S.C.(C).

Mr. Yusuf Ahmed Al Hammadi
Mr. Abduljalil Mohamed Janahi
Mr. Hamed Yousef Mashal
Mr. Sattam Sulaiman Al Gosaibi

18/12/2019

Pre-Existing

Approval of Middle East Traders B.S.C.
as sanitaryware supplier for Seef Mall
Public Toilets Renovation Project

Mr. Essa Mohamed Najibi

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
It is the policy of the Company that all related party and intra-company transactions are conducted and
undertaken on an arm’s length basis in the ordinary course of business and are approved by the Board.
Please refer to Note (29) of the financial statements for the details of the related party transactions for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019.
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14. RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is essentially about identifying, monitoring and controlling all material risks that the
Company could be subjected to in its ordinary course of operations. The main types of risks faced by the
Company are credit, liquidity, market, technical and operational including outsourcing risks. The risks could be
related to investments or corporate and may be internal or external to the operations of the Company. These
are detailed in Note (30) of the financial statements.
The Company identifies, assesses, monitors, controls and manages the various risks on an ongoing basis
and has relevant procedures and controls as are appropriate and commensurate to the nature, scale and
complexity of its business operations. The Executive Committee monitors the investment portfolio and the
risks involved and takes proactive measures to mitigate the risks. Internal control risks are controlled by
having effective and adequate internal control systems in place which are tested on a regular basis. The
Audit Committee is charged with the responsibility of ensuring that adequate internal controls are in place to
mitigate any existing or potential risks.
15. INTERNAL CONTROL
The Directors review the effectiveness of the Company’s system of financial and non-financial controls,
including operational and compliance controls, risk management and the Company’s high-level internal
control arrangements. These reviews have included periodic assessment of internal controls by the Internal
Audit function as reported to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis, management assurance of the
maintenance of controls and reports from the External Auditor on matters identified in the course of its
statutory audit work.
As of 31 December 2019, the Company had implemented a satisfactory system of internal control which
was reasonably effective in ensuring sound financial reporting, operations and compliance with laws and
regulations.
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16. EXTERNAL AUDITOR
Ernst & Young Bahrain was the audit firm which reviewed the financial results of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019. Below are the key details relating to their appointment:
Years of service as the Company’s External Auditor
Name of partner in charge of the Company’s audit

9 years
Kazim Merchant

The partner’s years of service as the partner in charge of the Company’s audit

1 Year

Total audit fees related to the financial statements of the financial year 2019

BD 15,250

Other fees and charges for non-audit services, other than auditing the financial
statements of the financial year 2019 (includes VAT and other consultancy services)

BD 17,260

TOTAL

BD 32,510

The Audit Committee at the meeting held on 10 February 2020 reviewed the performance of the External
Auditor and was satisfied with the same, proposing their re-appointment as the External Auditor of the
Company for the financial year 2020. The External Auditor has signified its willingness to continue in office
and the proposal for their re-appointment will be put forth for shareholder approval at the next Annual General
Meeting.
17. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OFFICER
Ms. Maryam Husain
Master of Laws (LLM) - University of Warwick (UK)
Bachelor of Laws (LLB) - University of Warwick (UK)
Postgraduate Diploma in Legal Practice Course (LPC) - College of Law
(London – UK)

Qualification

•
•
•

Date of Appointment

5 December 2019
(role previously undertaken by Mr. Ahmed Yusuf Abdulla Yusuf,
Chief Executive Officer).

Contact Details

Tel: 77911165
Email: m.husain@seef.com.bh
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18. COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
As of 31 December 2019, the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code is as follows:
EXPLANATION IN
NON-

PRINCIPLE

PARTIALLY

FULLY

COMPLIANT COMPLIANT COMPLIANT

Principle 1: The Company shall be headed by an
effective, qualified and expert Board.

YES

Principle 2: The Drectors and Executive Management
shall have full loyalty to the Company.

YES

Principle 3: The Board shall have rigorous controls
for financial audit and reporting, internal control, and
compliance with law.

YES

Principle 4: The Company shall have effective
procedures for appointment, training, and evaluation of
the directors

YES

Principle 5: The Company shall remunerate Directors
and senior officers fairly and responsibly.

YES

Principle 6: The Board shall establish a clear and
efficient management structure for the Company and
define the job titles, powers, roles and responsibilities.

YES

Principle 7: The Company shall communicate with
shareholders, encourage their participation, and respect
their rights.

YES

Principle 8: The Company shall disclose its corporate
governance.

YES

Principle 9: Companies which offer Islamic services
shall adhere to the principles of Islamic Shari’a.

N/A

Principle 10: The Board shall ensure the
integrity of the financial statements submitted to
shareholders through appointment of external auditors.

YES

Principle 11: The Company shall seek through social
responsibility to exercise its role as a good citizen.

YES

CASE OF NONCOMPLIANCE

Note:
Under Principle 7 (Guidance): There is no controlled access section for shareholders on the website. All information
that relates to shareholders is currently made public on the Company website or Bahrain Bourse website.
19. FINES AND PENALTIES
The Company did not pay any fines and penalties to any governmental and/or regulatory authorities during
the financial year ended 31 December 2019.
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Corporate Social
Responsibility
The Company has always been
dedicated to enriching the
community and ensuring that its
business operates in an ethical,
sound and responsible manner.
Accordingly, the Company’s
activities reflect its philosophy
of implementing sound business
practices, with innovative
products and services that
inspire its customers, assist the
community in which it operates
and help shape a better, more
sustainable society.
In order to align and respond
effectively to evolving social
imperatives and changes in
the business environment, the
Company’s adopts a holistic
approach to corporate social
responsibility to ensures that
various sectors of the community
and their varying needs are
targeted and addressed. The
Company undertakes an active
role in helping local communities
achieve their aspirations via a
combination of volunteer work
and patronage to sustain this
objective. The Company further
believes in the necessity of
public inclusion, paying particular

attention to enabling vulnerable
and underprivileged groups to
become active members of
vibrant social and economic
interactions.

Notable events and initiatives
conducted under the Company’s
Social Responsibility Programme
during 2019 include, but are not
limited to, the following:

During 2019, the Company’s
activities included various
donations and contributions,
primarily directed towards
healthcare, social welfare,
educational institutions, research,
national sports events and
ensuring that the underprivileged
are provided with the tools and
means to secure a better future.
Furthermore, employees also
make a significant contribution
by sharing their skills, business
acumen and expertise with
the community. This includes
participation in a broad range of
training seminars and workshops
benefitting students from
educational establishments, with
particular focus given to those
aimed at the development of
vision and leadership capabilities.
The Company aims to equip the
society with the right tools to not
only have a financially prosperous
future but also one which is safe,
secure and enriching.

•

Eid Shopping with Orphans
from The Royal Charity
Organisation

•

Cinema Day with Children with
Cancer

•

Purchase and distribution of
gift items for the children in
the kindergartens of the Child
Care Home during Eid Al Fitr
and Eid Al Adha

•

Several visits and
entertainment events
organised for the orphans,
people with special needs,
senior citizens and social clubs
in the malls managed by the
Company and the restaurants
within
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The Company makes direct donations and contributions to various official entities in the Kingdom of Bahrain
and ensures that such donations are utilised effectively by the recipients via periodic monitoring. The
donations and contributions of 2019 were distributed as follows:
RECIPIENT
Ministry of Justice and Islamic Affairs and Awqaf - Sunni Waqf Directorate

AMOUNT (BD)
10,000.000

Ayadi Relief

1,000.000

Injaz Bahrain

5,000.000

Shaikh Ebrahim Bin Mohamed Al-Khalifa Centre for Culture and Research

10,000.000

Islamic Association

5,000.000

Muharraq Social Welfare Centre

5,000.000

Al Kawther Society for Social Care Orphan

1,000.000

Bahrain Intellectual Association for Disability and Autism

5,000.000

Drug Recovery Association

15,000.000

Sh. Essa bin Salman Educational Charity (Waqf)

15,000.000

Royal University for Women

10,000.000

Bahrain Society for Children with Behavioral and Communications Difficulties

5,000.000

Royal Charity Organisation

5,000.000

Bahrain International Mobility Association

5,000.000

Bahrain Philanthropic Society

5,000.000

Ministry of Justice Zakat & Sadaqat Fund

5,000.000

Muharraq Parents Care Home

5,000.000

The Saudi Bahraini Institute for Blind

5,000.000

Al Sanabil Charity Society

5,000.000

Bahrain Down Syndrome Society

5,000.000
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RECIPIENT

AMOUNT (BD)

The Friendship Society for the Blind

3,000.000

Al Hedaya Center

3,000.000

Bahrain National Hereditary Anemia Society

3,000.000

Bahrain Deaf Society

3,000.000

Bahrain Parents Care Home

3,000.000

Ebtesamah Future Society of Youth

3,000.000

Al Manar for Parents Care

3,000.000

Al Irtiqa Charitable Society

3,000.000

Bahrain Health and Safety Society

2,000.000

Al Noor Charity Welfare

2,000.000

Abdul Rahman Kanoo Social Club for Parents

2,000.000

Bahrain Historical and Archaeological Society

5,000.000

Discover Islam

5,000.000

Cerebral Palsy Friendship Society

3,000.000

Bahrain Association for Parents & Friends of Disabled

5,000.000

Bahrain Voluntary Work Society

1,000.000

Abdulla Fakhro Social Club for Parents

3,000.000

University of Bahrain

5,000.000

Conserving Bounties

3,500.000
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The Shareholders of Seef Properties B.S.C.
Report on Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Seef Properties B.S.C. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, cash flows, changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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1. Valuation of investment properties
Refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements
Key audit matter

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

Investment properties comprise 79% of the Group's total assets as at 31
December 2019. The Group’s investment properties consist of malls, serviced
apartments property and commercial properties located within the Kingdom of
Bahrain. These investment properties are measured at fair value determined by
independent, external, specialist valuators.

Our procedures in relation to the fair value assessment of
investment properties included, among others:

The valuation of the investment properties is highly dependent on estimates and
assumptions, such as rental yields, property location, occupancy rates, discount
rates, maintenance status, and market knowledge. Because of the complexity
of fair value requirements, significance of judgements and estimates applied and
the Group’s exposure to investment properties forming a major portion of the
Group’s assets, the audit of fair value measurement for investment properties is a
key area of focus.

• Assessment of the methodology, key assumptions and

• Evaluation of the independent external valuators'

objectivity, independence and relevant expertise; and
methods used by the valuators in the valuation process.

We also evaluated the appropriateness of the disclosures
relating to the assumptions and sensitivity of such
assumptions in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other information included in the Group’s 2019 annual report
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2019 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The Chairman and the Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. Prior to the date of this auditor's report,
we obtained the Chairman’s Report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections of the annual report are expected to be made
available to us after that date. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it
becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs,
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
Board of Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditor's Report to
The Shareholders of Seef Properties B.S.C.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
We report that:
a)

as required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, we report that:
i.

the Company has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are in agreement therewith;

ii.

the financial information contained in the Chairman's Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements; and

iii. satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by Management in response to all our requests.
b)

We are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book (applicable
provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated resolutions, rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse or the terms
of the Company’s memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2019 that might have had a material adverse
effect on the business of the Company or on its consolidated financial position.

c)

As required by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism in their letter dated 30 January 2020 in respect of Article (8) of Section (2) of
Chapter (1) of the Bahrain Corporate Governance Code, we report that the Company:
i.

has appointed a Corporate Governance Officer; and

ii.

has a board approved written guidance and procedures for corporate governance.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Kazim Merchant.

Auditor's Registration No. 244
16 February 2020
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
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Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position
At 31 December 2019

Notes

2019
BD

2018
BD

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, equipment and furniture
Capital work-in-progress
Investment properties
Investment in an associate and a joint venture
Right-of-use assets

4
6
7
8
9

1,333,302
652,230
137,846,854
18,861,526
2,110,311
160,804,223

22,476,918
352,689
115,672,719
18,922,919
157,425,245

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Bank balances and cash

10
11

3,167,796
10,350,468
13,518,264
174,322,487

2,530,945
8,412,894
10,943,839
168,369,084

12
13
14

46,000,000
22,510,000
246,521
85,785,439
154,541,960
3,821,242
158,363,202

46,000,000
21,410,000
303,730
83,112,587
150,826,317
3,732,440
154,558,757

Non-current liabilities
Term loan - non-current portion
Lease liability - non-current portion
Employees’ end of service benefits

17
18
19

5,995,175
2,505,718
262,043
8,762,936

4,595,256
293,353
4,888,609

Current liabilities
Unclaimed dividends
Trade and other payables
Term loan - current portion
Lease liability - current portion

20
21
17
18

3,591,979
2,964,884
612,869
26,617
7,196,349
15,959,285
174,322,487

3,157,755
3,027,990
2,735,973
8,921,718
13,810,327
168,369,084

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Furniture and fixtures replacement reserve
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Essa Mohamed Najibi
Chairman

Dr. Mustafa Al Sayed
Vice Chairman

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ahmed Yusuf
Chief Executive Officer

Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes
INCOME
Property rental income and service charges
Income from serviced apartments
Leisure and recreational income
Less: cost of sales
GROSS PROFIT
Other operating income
Profit on term deposits
OPERATING PROFIT

22
23

EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation
Other expenses
Expected credit losses
Finance costs

24
5
25
10
16

PROFIT BEFORE FAIR VALUE GAINS ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES AND SHARE OF PROFIT FROM INVESTMENTIN
AN ASSOCIATE AND A JOINT VENTURE
Unrealised fair value gain on investment properties
Share of profit from investments in an associate and a joint venture
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Other comprehensive income
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

7
8

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity
holders of the parent (fils)

Essa Mohamed Najibi
Chairman

26

Dr. Mustafa Al Sayed
Vice Chairman

2019
BD

2018
BD

13,262,738
2,038,507
1,731,589
17,032,834
3,135,012
13,897,822
1,092,181
135,852
15,125,855

13,575,555
2,012,203
1,804,357
17,392,115
4,011,287
13,380,828
1,242,360
226,278
14,849,466

3,478,635
716,085
425,000
44,083
651,039
5,314,842

3,531,247
630,933
445,000
146,773
435,736
5,189,689

9,811,013
1,175,687
203,607
11,190,307
11,190,307

9,659,777
1,333,210
123,168
11,116,155
11,116,155

10,925,958
264,349
11,190,307

10,913,963
202,192
11,116,155

23.75

23.73

Ahmed Yusuf
Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019
2019
BD

2018
BD

11,190,307

11,116,155

850,502
2,560
(135,852)
651,039
425,000
44,083
47,712
(1,175,687)
(203,607)
265,000
11,961,057

1,453,772
7,064
(226,278)
435,736
445,000
146,773
67,772
(1,333,210)
(123,168)
11,989,616

(672,983)
(69,185)
11,218,889
(23,816)
(79,022)
(418,921)
10,697,130

(1,140,586)
(346,901)
10,502,129
(4,119)
(87,332)
(455,318)
9,955,360

4
6
7
8

(390,435)
(299,541)
(317,460)
(2,252,389)
127,901
(3,131,924)

(63,753)
(1,201,753)
(20,590)
(9,997,016)
5,128,795
204,500
(5,949,817)

20

(6,558,176)
(72,217)
(723,185)
(598,660)
(7,952,238)
(387,032)
7,095,880
6,708,848

(6,600,368)
6,062,943
(1,311,775)
(435,736)
(2,284,936)
1,720,607
5,375,273
7,095,880

Notes
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property, equipment and furniture
Profit on term deposits
Finance costs
Other expense
Expected credit losses
Provision for employees' end of service benefits
Unrealised fair value gain on investment properties
Share of profit from investments in an associate and a joint venture
Other adjustments
Operating profit before working capital changes
Working capital changes:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Direct utilisation of furniture and fixtures replacement reserve
Employees’ end of service benefits paid
Other expenses paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, equipment and furniture
Capital work-in-progress
Additions to investment properties
Additional investment in an associate / joint venture
Net movement in term deposits
Profit on term deposits received
Net cash flows used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid
Movement in bank balances representing unclaimed dividends
Term loan paid
Finance costs paid
Net cash flows used in financing activities
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER

4

16
25
10
19
7
8

19

17

11

Non-cash items:
1) Movement in donations and charitable contributions of BD 6,079 (2018: BD 10,318) has been excluded from trade and other payables.
2) Movement in profit on term deposits of BD 7,951 (2018: BD 21,778) has been excluded from trade and other receivables.
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Consolidated Statement
of Changes In Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes
Balance at 1 January 2019
Impact of adoption of IFRS 16

2

Balance as at 1 January 2019
(restated)
Total comprehensive income

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Furniture
and fixtures
Share
Statutory
replacement
Retained
capital
reserve
reserve
earnings*
BD
BD
BD
BD

Noncontrolling
interest
BD

Total
BD

46,000,000

21,410,000

303,730

83,112,587

3,732,440

154,558,757

-

-

-

(286,499)

(83,147)

(369,646)

46,000,000

21,410,000

303,730

82,826,088

3,649,293

154,189,111

-

-

-

10,925,958

264,349

11,190,307

Dividends declared for 2018

15

-

-

-

(6,900,000)

(92,400)

(6,992,400)

Transfer to statutory reserve

13

-

1,100,000

-

(1,100,000)

-

-

Transfer to furniture and fixtures
replacement reserve

14

-

-

61,155

(61,155)

-

-

-

-

(94,548)

94,548

-

-

Furniture and fixtures replacement
reserve utilised
Direct utilisation of furniture and
fixtures replacement reserve

-

-

(23,816)

-

-

(23,816)

Balance at 31 December 2019

46,000,000

22,510,000

246,521

85,785,439

3,821,242

158,363,202

Balance as at 1 January 2018

46,000,000

20,310,000

268,709

77,785,688

3,530,248

147,894,645

-

-

-

10,913,963

202,192

11,116,155

Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared for 2017

15

-

-

-

(6,900,000)

-

(6,900,000)

Reversal of unclaimed dividend

20

-

-

-

2,452,076

-

2,452,076

Transfer to statutory reserve

13

-

1,100,000

-

(1,100,000)

-

-

Transfer to furniture and fixtures
replacement reserve

14

-

-

60,366

(60,366)

-

-

Furniture and fixtures replacement
reserve utilised

-

-

(21,226)

21,226

-

-

Direct utilisation of furniture and
fixtures replacement reserve

-

-

(4,119)

-

-

(4,119)

46,000,000

21,410,000

303,730

83,112,587

3,732,440

154,558,757

Balance at 31 December 2018

* Retained earnings include BD 595,969 (2018: BD 422,251) relating to the statutory reserve of the subsidiaries.
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Notes to The Consolidated
Financial Statements
At 31 December 2019

1 ACTIVITIES
Seef Properties B.S.C. ("the Company") is a public joint stock company incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain and registered with the Ministry of
Industry, Commerce and Tourism under commercial registration (CR) number 44344. The postal address of the Company’s registered head office
is at P.O. Box 20084, Building 2102, Road 2825, Block 428, Seef District, Kingdom of Bahrain.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the (the "Group").
The Group is primarily engaged in the real estate business and also provides leisure and recreational game facilities. The Group owns and manages
Seef Mall, Isa Town Mall, Muharraq Seef Mall, Fraser Suites - Seef, Seef Entertainment and other commercial facilities in the Kingdom of Bahrain.
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 16 February 2020.
The Company's subsidiaries, associate and joint venture, all of which are incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain, are as follows:
Name

Percentage of holding

Principal activities

2019

2018

Subsidiaries
Fraser Suites Seef - Bahrain S.P.C.

100%

100%

Seef Entertainment S.P.C.

100%

100%

The Muharraq Mall Co. W.L.L.

72.5%

72.5%

Associate
Binaa Al Bahrain B.S.C. (c)

25%

25%

Real estate business.

Joint Venture
Lama Real Estate W.L.L.

50%

50%

Real estate business.

Hotel, tourist furnished flats and restaurants for tourist services
management.
Management of amusement parks and theme parks and other
amusement and recreation activities.
Management of real estate including malls.

2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and in conformity with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank
of Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book (applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated resolutions, rules and procedures of
the Bahrain Bourse.
2.2 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment properties that have been measured
at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahraini Dinars (BD) which is the functional currency of the Company and
reporting currency of the Group.
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Notes to The Consolidated
Financial Statements
At 31 December 2019

2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other
components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any investment retained
is recognised at fair value.
2.4 New and amended standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2019
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the IASB's following new and amended
standards and interpretations which are effective as of 1 January 2019. The effects of the adoption of these standards and interpretations on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting standard is
described below.
Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2019, but do not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.
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Notes to The Consolidated
Financial Statements
At 31 December 2019

2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 New and amended standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2019 (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 'Leases', IFRIC 4 'Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease', SIC-15 'Operating Leases-Incentives' and
SIC-27 'Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease'. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for most leases under a single on-balance sheet model.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating or finance
leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 did not have an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor.
The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. Under
this method, the Group measures the right-of-use assets at 1 January 2019 at an amount which is equal to the lease liability subject to certain
amendments. The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.
a) Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16
Before the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as either a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease was classified as a finance lease if it transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset
to the Group; otherwise it was classified as an operating lease. Finance leases were capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception
date fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments were apportioned between
interest (recognised as finance costs) and reduction of the lease liability. In an operating lease, the leased asset was not capitalised and the lease
payments were recognised as rent expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Any prepaid rent and accrued rent were recognised under trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, respectively.
Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases in which it is the lessee, except
for leases of low-value assets and short term leases. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use asset
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
b) Transition impact
The Group applied the modified retrospective approach to adopt the new standard and did not restate the comparative figures for the year prior to
adoption whereby the difference between the right-of-use assets (ROU) (depreciated from commencement date till transition) and the lease liability
was reflected in opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2019. The Group applied the standard to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Group did not apply the standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
Right of use assets are measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses)
Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position (increase/(decrease) as at 1 January 2019:
BD
Asset
Right-of-use assets
Liability
Lease liability
Net impact on equity
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Notes to The Consolidated
Financial Statements
At 31 December 2019

2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 New and amended standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2019 (continued)
b) Transition impact (continued)
The adoption of IFRS 16 had the following impact on the Group's consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2019:
BD
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Finance costs

(75,355)
(241,724)
(317,079)

The Group also reclassified buildings constructed on leased land with a fair value of BD 20,681,827 to investment property as of 1 January 2019.
c) Summary of new accounting policies
Set out below are the new accounting policies of the Group upon adoption of IFRS 16:
Right-of-use asset
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Rightof-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased
asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.
Lease liabilities
At the date of initial application, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments comprise fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments).
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. After the date
of initial application, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance
fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
Leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease
if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
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2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 New and amended standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2019 (continued)
c) Summary of new accounting policies (continued)
The following other amendments and interpretation apply for the first time in 2019, but do not have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
• IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment;
• Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation;
• Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement; and
• Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures.
Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle
• IFRS 3 Business Combinations;
• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements;
• IAS 12 Income Taxes; and
• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs.
2.5 Significant accounting policies
Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquire at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions held as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations, is valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business combination.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39, is remeasured at each
reporting date, at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for noncontrolling interests) and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets
acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If
the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as "gain on bargain purchase".
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
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2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with the requirements for provisions or the amount initially recognised less (when appropriate)
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the requirements for revenue recognition.
Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on a current/non-current classification.
An asset is presented as current when it is:
• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in a normal operating cycle;
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is presented as current when:
• It is expected to be settled in a normal operating cycle;
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Investment in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.
The Group’s investment in associate and joint venture is accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in joint venture or associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is
adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to
the joint venture or associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment individually.
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2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture.
Any change in other comprehensive income (OCI) of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate and joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate and joint venture.
The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate or a joint venture is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income outside operating profit.
The financial statements of the joint venture or associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment in
associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in associate or
joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Share of loss of an associate and joint venture’ in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Property, equipment and furniture
Property, equipment and furniture are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost
includes the cost of replacing part of the property, equipment and furniture. When significant parts of property, equipment and furniture are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, equipment and furniture
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repairs and maintenance costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Equipment

2-10 years

Furniture and fixtures

3-10 years

Motor vehicles

4 years

An item of property, equipment and furniture and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised.
The assets' residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
The capitalisation threshold for an individual item of property, equipment and furniture is BD 250, below which the cost is recognised as an
expense.
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2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Capital work-in-progress
Expenditure incurred on the construction of new facilities prior to the commencement of their commercial use is capitalised as capital workin-progress. Capital work-in-progress is transferred either to property, equipment and furniture or investment properties at the time of
commencement of commercial use.
Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated until it is transferred and put to commercial use, and is reviewed annually for any indication on
impairment.
Investment properties
Investment properties comprise completed property and property under construction or re-development held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Property held under a finance lease is classified as an investment property when the definition of an investment property is met.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include professional fees for legal services and
initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the
cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external independent valuer
applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee.
Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period of derecognition.
Transfers are made to (or from) investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to owneroccupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes
an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, equipment and furniture up to
the date of change in use.
Gains or losses on the disposal of investment properties are determined as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of
the asset in the previous full period financial statements.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Further disclosures relating to impairment of non-financial assets are also provided in the following notes:
Disclosures for significant assumptions

Note 3

Property, equipment and furniture

Note 4

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount.
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2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.
An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no
longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
The specific accounting policies relating to various financial assets and financial liabilities are set out below:

i) Financial assets
The Group's financial assets include cash and short-term deposits and trade and other receivables.
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is
performed at an instrument level.
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way
trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

70 Annual Report 2019

Notes to The Consolidated
Financial Statements
At 31 December 2019

2 BASIS OF PREPERATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments);
• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments);
• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments);
and
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets at amortized cost
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
All the financial assets currently held by the Group are classified at amortized cost.
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as described below:
Trade receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at the contractually agreed rates less any discounts or adjustments. Where the time value of money
is material, receivables are discounted and carried at amortised cost. Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to recover balances in full. Balances are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote.
Bank balances and cash
Cash and balances in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with maturity
of one year or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits with original
maturity of three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and restricted bank accounts, if any.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments of 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Amortised cost of financial instruments
Amortised cost is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment and principal repayment or reduction. The
calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate.
Fair value measurement
The Group measures non-financial assets such as investment properties at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value related disclosures are
summarised in the following notes:
Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions

Notes 3, 7

Investment properties

Note 7

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy

Note 31

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
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2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable; and
• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon
annually by management. The selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. Valuers are normally rotated every three years. Management decides, after discussions with the Group’s external valuers, which
valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case.
At each reporting date, management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be re-measured or
re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by
agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.
Management, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant
external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.
On an annual basis, the management present the valuation results to the audit committee. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions
used in the valuations.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and
risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
Employees' end of service benefits
The Group makes contributions to the Social Insurance Organisation scheme for its national employees calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.
The Group also provides for end of service benefits to its expatriate employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’
final salaries and length of service. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured,
regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty, if any. The Group has concluded that it is acting as the principal in all
of its revenue arrangements as it has pricing latitude and is also exposed to credit risk. The specific recognition criteria described below must also
be met before revenue is recognised.
Rental income
Rental income receivable from operating leases, less the Group’s initial direct costs of entering into the leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises.
Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the lease term, even if the payments are not made on such a basis.
The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease,
where, at the inception of the lease, it is reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.
Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for dilapidations are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when they arise.
Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants
Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognised in the period in which the expense can be contractually recovered. Service
charges and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs in revenue, as it is considered that the Group acts as principal in this
respect.
Interest income
Interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, which is based on the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or liability. Interest income is presented as profit on term deposits in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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2.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the
reporting date. All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value is determined.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.
Other disclosures relating to the Group’s exposure to risks and uncertainties include:
Capital management

Note 30

Financial risk management and policies

Note 30

Sensitivity disclosures

Note 30

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements below.
Going concern
The Company's Board of Directors has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the
Group has the resources to continue the business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Board of Directors is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast a significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial
statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions considering the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. The Group based
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions as they occur.
Revaluation of investment properties
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The Group engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair value as at 31 December 2019 for investment
properties. For investment properties, a valuation methodology based on income yield capitalisation model was used, as there is a lack of
comparable market data because of the nature of the properties.
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Estimates and assumptions (continued)
The determination of the fair value of investment properties requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets (such as lettings,
tenants’ profiles, future revenue streams, capital values of fixtures and fittings, any environmental matters and the overall repair and condition of
the property) and discount rates applicable to those assets. In addition, development risks (such as construction and letting risks) are also taken
into consideration when determining the fair value of investment properties under construction. Future revenue streams comprise contracted rent
(passing rent) and estimated rental income (ERV) after the contract period. In estimating ERV, the potential impact of future lease incentives to be
granted to secure new contracts is taken into consideration. All these estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the reporting date.
The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the properties and sensitivity analyses are provided in note 7.
Useful lives of property, equipment and furniture
The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, equipment and furniture for calculating depreciation. This estimate
is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and tear. Management reviews the residual values and useful lives
annually and future depreciation charges would be adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.
Impairment of trade receivables
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors.
At the reporting date, gross trade receivables amounted to BD 3,321,881 (2018: BD 3,152,455) and provision for expected credit losses is BD
1,157,755 (2018: BD 1,175,980). Any difference between the amounts actually collected in future periods and the amounts expected will be
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

4 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND FURNITURE

2019

Building
on leasehold
land
BD

Equipment
BD

Furniture
and fixtures
BD

Motor
vehicles
BD

Total
BD

Cost:
At 1 January 2019
Additions
Transfers to investment properties
Disposals
At 31 December 2019

21,992,938
(21,992,938)
-

5,679,089
367,713
(98,900)
5,947,902

4,884,114
6,365
(1,415)
4,889,064

136,363
16,357
152,720

32,692,504
390,435
(21,992,938)
(100,315)
10,989,686

1,311,949
(1,311,949)
-

4,929,284
431,172
(96,523)
(745)
5,263,188

3,858,185
405,631
(1,232)
745
4,263,329

116,168
13,699
129,867

10,215,586
850,502
(1,409,704)
9,656,384

-

684,714

625,735

22,853

1,333,302

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019
Depreciation charge for the year
Relating to disposals / transfers
Adjustments
At 31 December 2019
Net carrying values:
At 31 December 2019
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4 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND FURNITURE (continued)

2018
Cost:
At 1 January 2018
Additions
Transfers from capital work-in-progress
Disposals
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2018
Depreciation charge for the year
Relating to disposals
At 31 December 2018
Net carrying values:
At 31 December 2018

Building
on leasehold
land
BD

Equipment
BD

Furniture
and
fixtures
BD

Motor
vehicles
BD

Total
BD

21,967,761
25,177
21,992,938

5,613,684
10,401
298,547
(243,543)
5,679,089

4,748,782
10,825
142,308
(17,801)
4,884,114

144,826
17,350
(25,813)
136,363

32,475,053
63,753
440,855
(287,157)
32,692,504

728,406
583,543
1,311,949

4,743,435
425,148
(239,299)
4,929,284

3,437,622
435,544
(14,981)
3,858,185

132,444
9,537
(25,813)
116,168

9,041,907
1,453,772
(280,093)
10,215,586

20,680,989

749,805

1,025,929

20,195

22,476,918

Depreciation charges have been allocated in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

Cost of sales (note 22)
Expenses

2019
BD

2018
BD

209,772
640,730
850,502

822,839
630,933
1,453,772

2019
BD

2018
BD

640,730
75,355
716,085

630,933
630,933

5 DEPRECIATION
Depreciation of non-current assets have been allocated as follows:

Depreciation of property, equipment and furniture (note 4)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 9)
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6 CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS

At 1 January
Capital expenditure incurred during the year
Transfers to property, equipment and furniture (note 4)
Transfers to investment properties (note 7)
At 31 December

2019
BD

2018
BD

352,689
299,541
652,230

615,987
1,201,753
(440,855)
(1,024,196)
352,689

2019
BD

2018
BD

115,672,719
20,680,989
1,175,687
317,459
137,846,854

113,294,723
1,333,210
1,024,196
20,590
115,672,719

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 1 January
Transfers from property, equipment and furniture (note 4)
Unrealised fair value gain
Transfers from capital work-in-progress (note 6)
Expenditure incurred during the year
At 31 December

The Group’s investment properties consist of Seef Mall, Isa Town Mall, Fraser Suites - Seef, Muharraq Seef Mall and other commercial properties in
the Kingdom of Bahrain.
At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the fair values of the properties are based on valuations performed by independent surveyors.
The surveyors are industry specialists in valuing these types of investment properties. The valuations undertaken are based on the income yield
capitalisation method or discounted cash flow method.
Fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment properties are provided in note 31.
A description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to the valuation of investment properties are as follows:
Properties

Significant unobservable inputs

(weighted average)
2019

2018

Mall Properties

Estimated rental value per annum
Occupancy rate
Equivalent yield

BD 12,029,361
90% - 93%
8% to 9.5%

BD 9,491,678
76% - 92%
9% to 9.5%

Fraser Suites - Seef

Estimated rental value per annum
Occupancy rate
Discount rate

BD 1,971,000
80%
10.00%

BD 1,892,160
75%
10.00%

Other commercial properties

Estimated rental value per annum
Occupancy rate
Equivalent yield

BD 1,359,840
100%
6.0% - 9.0%

BD 1,410,856
100%
3.0% - 10.0%
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7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease renewal and
related re-letting, redevelopment, or refurbishment. The appropriate duration is typically driven by market behaviour that is a characteristic of the
class of real property. Periodic cash flow is typically estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease
incentives, maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and other operating and management expenses, as applicable. The series of periodic
net operating income, along with an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then discounted.
Significant increases (decreases) in estimated rental value, rent growth per annum and long-term occupancy rates in isolation would result in a
significantly higher (lower) fair value of the properties. Significant increases (decreases) in discount rate (and exit yield) in isolation would result in a
significantly lower (higher) fair value of the properties.
Generally, a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is accompanied by:
• A directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum and discount rate (and exit yield); and
• An opposite change in the long term occupancy rate.

8 INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A JOINT VENTURE

At 1 January
Additional investment during the year
Share of profit during the year
Other adjustments
At 31 December

2019
BD

2018
BD

18,922,919
203,607
(265,000)
18,861,526

8,802,735
9,997,016
123,168
18,922,919

The summarised financial information of the joint venture, based on audited financial statements and reconciliation with the carrying amounts of
the investment in the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Joint venture's summarised statement of financial position:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Equity

Joint venture's summarised statement of profit or loss:
Revenue
Expenses
(Loss) / profit for the year
Group’s share of (loss) / profit for the year

2019
BD

2018
BD

2,709,782
18,751,602
(3,875,502)
17,585,882

8,113,845
9,922,145
(420,641)
17,615,349

2019
BD

2018
BD

32,070
(61,536)
(29,466)
(14,733)

145,418
(10,537)
134,881
67,441
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8 INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE AND A JOINT VENTURE (continued)
Summarised financial information of the associate, based on audited financial statements and reconciliation with the carrying amounts of the
investment in the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Associate's summarised statement of financial position:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Equity

Associate's summarised statement of profit or loss:
Revenue
Expenses
Profit for the year
Group’s share of profit for the year

2019
BD

2018
BD

20,402,701
30,886,701
(21,610)
51,267,792

19,958,990
30,451,401
(15,957)
50,394,434

2019
BD

2018
BD

892,268
(18,910)
873,358
218,340

241,146
(18,240)
222,906
55,727

The joint venture and associate had no material contingent liabilities at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. The joint ventures cannot
distribute their profits until it obtains the consent from both venture partners. The Group’s share of joint venture's capital commitments at reporting
date is disclosed in note 27.

9 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
The movements in the carrying value of right-of-use assets during the year, is as follows:

As at 1 January 2019
Additions during the year
Depreciation for the year
As at 31 December 2019
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Land
BD

Compactors
BD

Motor
vehicles
BD

Total
BD

2,150,771
(61,159)
2,089,612

32,592
(12,222)
20,370

2,303
(1,974)
329

2,153,074
32,592
(75,355)
2,110,311
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10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Rents and service charges receivable
Less: provision for expected credit losses
Due from related parties (note 29)
Other receivables [net of provision of BD 25,228 (2017: BD 131,700)]
Prepayments
Advances to suppliers

2019
BD

2018
BD

3,321,881
(1,157,755)
2,164,126
579,172
108,574
128,200
187,724
3,167,796

3,152,455
(1,175,980)
1,976,475
186,681
46,692
154,650
166,447
2,530,945

Rents and service charges receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally paid on 30 to 60 days credit terms.
For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer to note 29.
The movement in the provision for expected credit losses is as follows:

At 1 January
Charge for the year
Written off during the year
At 31 December

2019
BD

2018
BD

1,307,680
44,083
(219,236)
1,132,527

1,311,551
146,773
(150,644)
1,307,680

The Group applies the simplified approach prescribed by IFRS 9 to provide for ECL on trade receivables. The loss allowance provision as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 incorporates certain forward looking factors and is determined as follows:
Past due but not impaired
Total
BD

0-30
days
BD

31-60
days
BD

61-90
days
BD

91 to 120
days
BD

over 120
days
BD

Gross carrying amounts 2019

3,321,881

847,593

346,796

38,745

255,731

1,833,016

Loss allowance

(1,157,755)

(295,406)

(120,867)

(13,504)

(89,128)

(638,850)

Gross carrying amounts 2018

3,152,455

733,605

342,760

58,713

209,601

1,807,776
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11 BANK BALANCES AND CASH
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at the reporting date.

Cash on hand, bank balances and term deposits
Less: Term deposits with original maturity of more than three months
Bank balances representing unclaimed dividends (note 15)

2019
BD

2018
BD

10,350,468
(2,800,000)
(841,620)
6,708,848

8,412,894
(547,611)
(769,403)
7,095,880

Bank balances are held in commercial banks in the Kingdom of Bahrain and are non-interest bearing. Term deposits are placed for varying periods
ranging between one month to one year. The profit rates on term deposits at 31 December 2019 range between 3.5% to 3.6% (2018: 3.5% to 4%).

12 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
1,000,000,000 shares of BD 0.100 each
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up:
460,000,000 shares (2018: 460,000,000 shares) of BD 0.100 each

2019
BD

2018
BD

100,000,000

100,000,000

46,000,000

46,000,000

13 STATUTORY RESERVE
The Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Company's articles of association require 10% of the profit for the year to be transferred to a
statutory reserve. The Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the paid-up share capital. The
reserve is not distributable except in such circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law. During the year, BD 1,100,000
(2018: BD 1,100,000) of the profit for the year was transferred to the statutory reserve.

14 FURNITURE AND FIXTURES REPLACEMENT RESERVE
In accordance with the management agreement entered into between the Company and Fraser Serviced Residences Pte Ltd., a company
incorporated in Singapore and involved in the operation of hotels, apartments and tourist restaurants, an amount equivalent to 1% of the total
revenue for the first year, 2% of the total revenue for the second year and 3% of the total revenue for the third year and thereafter of Fraser Suites
Seef - Bahrain S.P.C. ("Fraser Suites Seef"), is to be set aside as furniture and fixtures replacement reserve which is to be utilised for the purchase
and replacement of Fraser Suites Seef's furniture and fixtures.
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15 DIVIDENDS DECLARED
At the Annual General Meeting held on 31 March 2019, the Company's shareholders approved to pay a final dividend of BD 0.015 per share totalling
BD 6,900,000. Dividends paid amounting to BD 6,465,776 relate to 2018 and before.
At the Annual General Meeting held on 25 March 2018, the Company's shareholders approved to pay a final dividend of BD 0.015 per share totalling
BD 6,900,000. Dividends paid amounting to BD 6,600,368 relate to 2017 and before.

16 FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs comprise of:

Finance costs on term loan
Finance costs on lease liability

2019
BD

2018
BD

409,315
241,724
651,039

435,736
435,736

17 TERM LOAN
This represents a term loan facility obtained by the Group's subsidiary Muharraq Mall Co. W.L.L. (MMC) from a commercial bank in the Kingdom
of Bahrain to finance the development of Muharraq Seef Mall. During January 2019, the loan was restructured, and under the new terms of the
restructure, carries an interest rate of 2.95% plus 3 months LIBOR and is repayable on 40 quarterly instalments commencing from January 2019
until December 2028. The effective interest rate on the loan at 31 December 2019 was 5.98% (2018: 5.65%).
The loan is secured against the joint and several guarantees issued by all the shareholders of MMC in favour of the bank. There have been no
breaches of the financial covenants of term loan during the current and previous year.
Movement in the term loan is as follows:

At 1 January
Finance costs for the year
Repayments during the year
At 31 December

2019
BD

2018
BD

7,331,229
409,315
(1,132,500)
6,608,044

8,643,004
435,736
(1,747,511)
7,331,229

2019
BD

2018
BD

612,869
5,995,175
6,608,044

2,735,973
4,595,256
7,331,229

The current and non-current portions of the term loan are as follows:

Current
Non-current
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18 LEASE LIABILITY
The lease liability balance represents the present value of future lease payments for a leasehold land, leased motor vehicles and leased compactors
which end in February 2054, February 2020 and March 2021 respectively.
The payments for the leasehold land are discounted using a discount factor of 9.66% per annum representing the rate of a commercial loan at 6%
with 1.5% increment over the years. The payments for the leased motor vehicles are discounted at 3.2% per annum. The payments for the leased
compactors are discounted at 3.2% per annum.
The movement of the lease liability is as follows:

Balance at 1 January 2019
Additions during the year
Lease payments during the year
Finance costs during the year
Balance at 31 December 2019

Leasehold
land
BD

Leasehold
compactors
BD

Leasehold
motor
vehicles
BD

Total
BD

2,520,312
(250,000)
241,060
2,511,372

32,592
(12,600)
621
20,613

2,408
(2,100)
43
351

2,522,720
32,592
(264,700)
241,724
2,532,336

Leasehold
land
BD

Leasehold
compactors
BD

Leasehold
motor
vehicles
BD

Total
BD

9,842
2,501,530
2,511,372

16,424
4,189
20,613

351
351

26,617
2,505,719
2,532,336

The current and non-current portions of the lease liability are as follows:

Current
Non-current

19 EMPLOYEES' END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
The contributions made by the Group towards the pension scheme for Bahraini nationals administered by the Social Insurance Organisation in the
Kingdom of Bahrain for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to BD 165,905 (2018: BD 122,225).
The movement in the end of service benefits applicable to expatriate employees is as follows:

At 1 January
Charge for the year
Paid during the year
At 31 December
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2019
BD

2018
BD

293,353
47,712
(79,022)
262,043

312,913
67,772
(87,332)
293,353
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19 EMPLOYEES' END OF SERVICE BENEFITS (continued)
Charges for the year have been allocated in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

Staff costs (note 24.1)
Cost of sales

2019
BD

2018
BD

36,166
11,546
47,712

41,078
26,694
67,772

2019
BD

2018
BD

3,157,755
6,900,000
92,400
(6,558,176)
3,591,979

5,310,199
6,900,000
(6,600,368)
(2,452,076)
3,157,755

20 UNCLAIMED DIVIDENDS

At 1 January
Dividends declared (note 15)
Dividends relating to non-controlling interest of a subsidiary
Dividends paid (note 15)
Reversal
At 31 December

During 2018, the Group, based on a legal opinion and resolution of the shareholders dated 28 February 2006 and 1 March 2007, reversed, through
the retained earnings, dividends relating to 2005 and 2006 in respect of a shareholder.

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued expenses
Deposit payable
Deferred income
Other payables
Trade payables
Donations and charitable contributions payables
Retentions payable

2019
BD

2018
BD

1,153,419
572,938
508,441
400,133
223,056
86,319
20,577
2,964,883

1,024,374
482,299
658,877
448,510
177,991
80,240
155,699
3,027,990

Terms and conditions of the financial liabilities included in the above table are as follows:
• Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.
• Retentions payable are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months to one year from the date of rendering the contractual
services.
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22 COST OF SALES

Utilities
Cleaning
Maintenance
Staff costs
Depreciation (note 4)
Room related expenses
Insurance
Food and beverage costs
Direct costs incurred on leisure and recreational facilities
Property tax
Rent expense
Miscellaneous

2019
BD

2018
BD

923,503
608,526
545,317
512,589
209,772
67,234
64,559
49,468
35,680
31,260
87,104
3,135,012

954,098
599,411
459,222
543,768
822,839
76,956
88,001
64,845
33,882
31,260
250,000
87,005
4,011,287

2019
BD

2018
BD

739,403
95,240
46,887
210,651
1,092,181

732,916
130,906
48,807
329,731
1,242,360

2019
BD

2018
BD

1,773,350
635,091
322,227
292,374
125,187
73,348
67,268
61,849
24,100
1,843
101,998
3,478,635

1,925,240
646,468
304,998
174,907
149,600
60,223
83,185
50,305
33,400
9,794
93,127
3,531,247

23 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Kiosk, antenna, ATM and GSM income
Advertising and promotional income
Car park income
Miscellaneous income

24 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Staff costs (note 24.1)
Marketing and advertisement expenses
Security and other labour expenses
Legal and professional fees
Office expenses
Incentive fees
Maintenance expenses
Management fees
Board sitting fees
Travelling and transportation expenses
Miscellaneous
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24 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (continued)
24.1 Staff costs

Basic salaries
Allowances
Bonuses
Social insurance
Medical insurance
Others
End of service benefits (note 19)

2019
BD

2018
BD

1,108,547
219,243
140,783
124,181
82,195
62,235
36,166
1,773,350

1,260,650
230,700
156,791
119,863
78,989
37,169
41,078
1,925,240

2019
BD

2018
BD

245,000
180,000
425,000

265,000
180,000
445,000

2019

2018

10,925,958

10,913,963

460,000,000

460,000,000

23.75

23.73

25 OTHER EXPENSES

Directors' remuneration (note 29)
Donations and charitable contributions

26 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company (BD)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils)

No separate figure for diluted earnings per share has been presented as the Group has not issued any financial instruments which may have a
dilutive effect.
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27 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a) Capital commitments
The Group has capital expenditure and investment commitments outstanding at the reporting date but not yet provided for in respect of the following:

Lama Real Estate W.L.L.
Binaa Al Bahrain
Seef Mall, Isa Town Mall and Magic Island renovation works
Muharraq Seef Mall

2019
BD

2018
BD

23,861,717
4,968,577
747,341
13,351
29,590,986

27,885,600
4,968,577
337,875
2,351
33,194,403

b) Other commitments
MMC is expected to pay a royalty charge of 2.75% (2018: 2.75%) of its gross rental income receivable to the lessor commencing from the year
2022 until the end of the lease term in 2053.

c) Legal cases
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal claims. The Group has provided for certain claims relating to employees. In respect of
other cases, management believe that those cases would be decided in favour of the Group and hence no cash outflow is expected from such cases.

d) Guarantees
The Company, along with the other shareholders, have jointly signed several corporate guarantees towards term loan obtained by MMC from a
commercial bank.

28 SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into four main business segments:
Malls and properties

– Management of real estate including malls

Serviced apartments

– Management of apartments

Leisure and entertainment

– Operating leisure and recreational games facilities

Other

– All activities other than property management and leisure activities

The operations of malls and properties include the management of Seef Mall, Isa Town Mall, Muharraq Seef Mall and other properties in Hamad
Town, Isa Town, Saar and Um-Al Hassam.
Serviced apartments represent Fraser Suites Seef - Bahrain, which generates income from the leasing of furnished serviced apartments and
tourist restaurants.
The Group owns and operates leisure and recreational games facilities in different commercial malls in the Kingdom of Bahrain under its brand
name, Magic Island.
The Group also earns income from lease of promotional space, car park areas in addition to other miscellaneous income.
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table
below, is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group financing (finance revenue) is managed
on a group basis and is not allocated to operating segments.
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28 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Transfer prices between operating segments are approved by management.
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist primarily of property, equipment and furniture, investment properties
and accounts receivable.
Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist primarily of employees' end of service benefits, unclaimed dividends and trade and
other payables.

Malls and properties

Income from external
operations

Serviced apartments

Leisure and
entertainment

Others

Elimination

Consolidated

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

-

17,392,115

-

-

-

17,032,834

270,882

260,160

-

-

-

-

-

-

(270,882) (260,160)

-

-

Less: cost of sales

1,855,452

2,627,671

598,927

683,506

951,515

960,270

-

-

(270,882) (260,160)

3,135,012

4,011,287

Gross profit

11,678,168 11,208,044

1,439,580 1,328,697

-

-

-

-

1,064,866 1,226,684

-

-

1,092,181

1,242,360

226,278

-

-

135,852

226,278

1,191,174 1,452,962

-

-

15,125,855 14,849,466

Inter-segment income

13,262,738 13,575,555

2,038,507 2,012,203 1,731,589 1,804,357

780,074

844,087

Other operating income

-

-

-

-

27,315

15,676

Profit on term deposits

-

-

-

-

9,544

-

1,439,580 1,328,697

816,933

859,763

Operating profit

11,678,168 11,208,044

126,308

13,897,822 13,380,828

Expenses
General and
administrative
expenses
Depreciation
Other expenses
Expected credit losses

2,796,244

2,801,895

566,666

606,746

115,725

122,606

-

-

-

-

3,478,635

313,821

221,345

70,597

75,017

331,667

334,571

-

-

-

-

716,085

630,933

425,000

445,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

425,000

445,000

3,531,247

44,083

146,773

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

44,083

146,773

651,039

435,736

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

651,039

435,736

4,230,187

4,050,749

637,263

681,763

447,392

457,177

-

-

-

-

5,314,842

5,189,689

Profit from operations

7,447,981

7,157,295

802,317

646,934

369,541

402,586

1,191,174 1,452,962

-

-

9,811,013

9,659,777

Unrealised fair value gain
(loss) on investment
properties

1,175,687

1,878,975

-

(545,765)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,175,687

1,333,210

203,607

123,168

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

203,607

123,168

8,827,275

9,159,438

802,317

101,169

369,541

402,586

1,191,174 1,452,962

-

-

11,190,307

11,116,155

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

159,964,564

158,314,949

12,152,146

12,410,254

2,205,777

1,751,023

-

-

-

(4,107,142)

11,933,445

13,520,714

3,905,911

4,396,755

119,929

34,717

-

-

-

(4,107,142)

15,959,285

13,810,327

672,482

1,162,108

125,484

84,343

209,469

39,645

-

-

-

-

1,007,435

1,286,096

Finance costs

Share of profit from
investments in an
associate and a
joint venture
Segment profit for
the year

Total assets
Total liabilities
Capital expenditure

174,322,487 168,369,084

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, equipment and furniture, capital work-in-progress and investment properties.
All of the sales and profit of the Group are earned in the Kingdom of Bahrain from the above business segments.
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Board of Directors.
Transactions with related parties during the year are as follows:
2019

Muharraq Mall Co. W.L.L.

2018

Cost of
sales
BD

Other
operating
income
BD

Cost of
sales
BD

Other
operating
income
BD

65,160

72,815

65,160

157,871

The Company has an existing property services agreement with MMC, to provide property development and management, lease management,
tenant coordination, management set-up and mall marketing management. The fees for these services were included in other operating income in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position (note 10) are as follows:
Receivables

Lama Real Estate W.L.L.

2019
BD

2018
BD

579,172

186,681

2019
BD

2018
BD

245,000
137,650
4,800
24,100
411,550

265,000
174,560
5,075
33,400
478,035

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and members of key management during the year were as follows:

Directors' remuneration
Management short-term benefits
Management end of service benefits
Board sitting fees

Outstanding balances at 31 December arise in the normal course of business and are interest free and unsecured. The Group only creates an
impairment provision for related party balances where it is virtually certain the debt will not be recovered. For the years ended 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018, the Group has not recorded any impairment of amounts owed by related parties.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Introduction
The Group manages risk through a process of ongoing identification and monitoring of the risks it faces. The Group is exposed primarily to real
estate risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies and principles.
Executive committee
The executive committee is responsible for evaluating and approving business and risk strategies, plans and policies of the Company and Group.
Real estate risk
The Group has identified the following risks associated with the real estate portfolio:
A major tenant may become insolvent causing a significant loss of rental income and a reduction in the value of the associated property (also see
credit risk below). To reduce this risk, the Group reviews the financial status of all prospective and existing tenants and decides on the appropriate
level of security required via rental deposits or guarantees.
Interest rate risk
The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk on its interest bearing bank deposits as these deposits are placed with reputable banks at predetermined fixed interest rates.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group's operating activities when revenue or expense
are denominated in a different currency from the Group's functional currency.
The majority of the Group's transactions i n foreign currency are in US Dollars. As the Bahraini Dinar is pegged to the US Dollar, balances in US
Dollars are not considered to represent a significant currency risk.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.
The Group is exposed to credit risk from its leasing activities and its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk related to rent receivables
Credit risk is managed by requiring tenants to pay rentals in advance. The credit quality of the tenant is assessed based on an extensive credit
rating scorecard at the time of entering into a lease agreement. Outstanding tenants’ receivables are regularly monitored. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial asset.
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group's management in accordance with the Group’s policy.
Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit
limits are reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors on an annual basis, and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Audit
Committee. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty failure.

Concentration of credit risk
The Group provides its services to a large number of individuals and companies. Its five largest customers account for 25% of outstanding trade
receivables at 31 December 2019 (2018: 19%).
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group limits its liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available. The Group's terms of lease require tenants to pay rentals in
advance. Trade and other payables are normally on 30 to 60 days settlement terms.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at 31 December based on contractual undiscounted payments.

2019
Unclaimed dividends
Trade and other payables
Term loan

2018
Unclaimed dividends
Trade and other payables
Term loan

On
demand
BD

Less than
3 months
BD

3 to 12
months
BD

1 to 5
years
BD

Total
BD

3,591,979
250,960
149,917
3,992,856

233,806
462,952
696,758

695,464
2,962,513
3,657,977

122,793
3,032,662
3,155,455

3,591,979
1,303,023
6,608,044
11,503,046

On
demand
BD

Lessthan
3months
BD

3to12
months
BD

1to5
years
BD

Total
BD

3,157,755
222,236
3,379,991

331,925
1,011,935
1,343,860

708,787
1,724,038
2,432,825

81,791
4,595,256
4,677,047

3,157,755
1,344,739
7,331,229
11,833,723

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management process is to ensure that the Group maintains a strong liquidity and healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders' value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the current and previous years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. For the purpose
of the Group’s capital management, equity includes share capital, statutory reserve, furniture and fixtures replacement reserve, retained earnings
and equity attributable to non-controlling interest and is measured at 31 December 2019 at BD 158,363,202 (2018: BD 154,558,757).
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31 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Financial instruments comprise of financial assets and financial liabilities.
Financial assets consist of trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances. Financial liabilities consist of certain items of trade and other
payables, unclaimed dividends payable and term loan which are carried at amortised cost.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments such as cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
unclaimed dividends payable, are a reasonable approximation of their fair values. Thus, a fair value disclosure is not required for such financial
instruments.
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets measured at fair value at 31 December:

31 December 2019

Date of valuation

Assets measured at fair value
Investment properties

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

Date of valuation

Assets measured at fair value
Investment properties

31 December 2018

Quoted prices
prices in active
markets
(Level 1)
BD
-

Quoted prices
prices in active
markets
(Level 1)
BD
-

Fair value measurement using
Significant
Significant
observable
unobservable
inputs
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
BD
BD
-

Total
BD

137,846,854

137,846,854

Fair value measurement using
Significant
Significant
observable
unobservable
inputs
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
BD
BD

Total
BD

-

115,672,719

115,672,719

There have been no transfers between Level 1, level 2 and Level 3 during the year.
Movement in the carrying value of investment properties is disclosed in note 7.
Changes in estimated rental value and yields in isolation would result in a higher or lower fair value of the investment properties. The effect of a
reasonably possible 1% change in annual rental income would result in a change in fair value of investment properties is BD 1,299,422 (2018: BD
1,081,945). Similarly, the effect of a reasonably possible change in the yield of 0.25% could impact the fair value of the investment properties by BD
3,634,545 (2018: 2,901,454).
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